City of Guyton, Georgia
City Council

Regular Meeting
November 12, 2025 at 7:00 P.M.

Guyton City Hall
310 Central Boulevard
Guyton, GA 31312

AGENDA

1. Call to Order

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance

3 Consideration to Approve the Agenda

4. Consideration to Approve the Minutes
© 10/14/25 Regular Meeting

5. Reports from Staff and Committees

Police Department Kelphie Lundy

® Fire Department Clint Hodges

@© Public Works/Water/Sewer EOM

© Planning and Zoning Lon Harden

@ Industrial Development Lon Harden

© Historical Commission Lucy Powell

© Leisure Services Lula Seabrooks

© Downtown Development Miller Bargeron, Jr.
© Streets and Lanes Jimmie Hill

6. Public Participation

Kimberly Young — Discuss water concerns for 251 Brogdon Road
Susie Davis — Presentation for Aunt Dot's House, Effingham Heroes

T Old Business

A. None

11/12/25 City Council Meeting Agenda - Page 1 of 3




8.

10.

New Business
Consideration to approve the 2025 Guyton SRO Intergovernmental Agreement

Consideration to approve the agreement with Enterprise Fleet Management for all city
vehicles

Consideration to approve changing the Christmas tree lighting on the event calendar to
November 30, 2025

Consideration to approve two surplus vehicles from the Guyton Police Department

. Consideration of site approval for Alexander Farms Phase 1

Consideration of approval for proposed fines for Code Enforcement violations

Dates to Remember

© Thursday, November 13, 2025, Bingo from 11:00 A.M. until 12:00 P.M. — Leisure

Services Room, 505 Magnolia Street, Guyton, GA 31312

® Sunday, November 30, 2025, Christmas Tree Lighting, 6:00 P.M.-—- Guyton Walking Trail

Guyton, GA 31312

© Guyton City Hall will be closed on Thursday, November 27, and Friday, November 28,

2025, in observance of Thanksgiving. The office will reopen for business on Monday,
December 1, 2025

© Tuesday, December 9, 2025, Guyton City Council Meeting at 7:00 P.M. --- Guyton

City Hall, 310 Central Boulevard, Guyton, GA 31312

Consideration to adjourn

11/12/25 City Council Meeting Agenda - Page 2 of 3



Rules of Decorum for All Meetings

The purpose of the Rules of Decorum is to foster an atmosphere of civil and courteous discourse,
even and especially when discussing contentious topics, at all meetings held by the City of
Guyton.

(A) General rules applicable to all (Mayor and City Council, Staff, Members of the Public)

1) Each speaker should refrain from personal attacks, foul or abusive language, and will
maintain a civil and courteous manner and tone.

2) During designated times for members of the public to speak, members of the public will
be permitted 10 minutes to discuss topics. After 10 minutes of discussion on a topic,
members of the public will be limited to 3:00 minutes speaking time. The Mayor or
presiding officer shall have the authority to grant additional speaking time.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, during public hearings involving zoning decisions,
members of the public will have no less than 10 minutes to speak in favor, and no less
than 10 minutes to speak in opposition.

3) Members of the audience will respect the rights of others and will not create noise or
other disturbances that will disrupt or disturb persons who are addressing the Mayor and
Council or Committee or Board or Commission, or members of those bodies who are
speaking, or otherwise impede the orderly conduct of the meeting.

(B) Additional Rules for Mayor and City Council, Committees, Boards or Commissions

1. The Mayor and City Council, Committees, Boards, Authorities, or Commissions will
conduct themselves in a professional and respectful manner at all meetings.

2. Questions for staff or individuals or other Council, Committee, Board or Commission
members will be directed to the appropriate person to answer. Members of the Mayor
and City Council, Committees, Boards, Authorities, or Commissions will attempt to
answer or address questions presented one at a time without attempting to talk over
another member.

3. Members of the Mayor and City Council, Committees, Boards, Authorities, or
Commissions are always free to criticize or question policies, positions, data, or
information presented. However, members of the Mayor and City Council, Committees,
Boards, Authorities, or Commissions will not attack or impugn the person presenting.

(C) Enforcement

The Mayor or presiding officer has the authority to enforce each of the Rules of Decorum
regarding members of the public. If any Rule is violated, the Mayor or presiding officer will give
the speaker a warning, citing the Rule being violated, and telling the speaker that a second
violation will result in a forfeiture of the right to speak further. The Mayor or presiding officer
also may have the offending speaker removed from the meeting if the misconduct persists. The
Mayor or presiding officer shall not have any power under this provision regarding a Council,
Committee, Board or Commission member.

11/12/25 City Council Meeting Agenda - Page 3 of 3




2025 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN
THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT AND
THE CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this day of _, 2025, by and between CITY OF
GUYTON, GEORGIA, acting by and through its duly elected Mayor and City Council (hereinafter
“City™), and EFFINGHAM COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT, acting by and through its duly elected Board
of Education (hereinafter “School District™),

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Article X, Section III, Paragraph 1 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia provides, in
pertinent part, that a county, municipality, school district, or other political subdivision of the State of
Georgia, may contract with one another for the provision of services, and for the use of facilities which
the county, municipality, school district, or other political subdivision is authorized by law to provide; and

WHEREAS, the Effingham County Sheriff’s Office (hereinafter “Sheriff’s Office™), in coordination with
the School District, previously instituted and established a School Resource Deputy Program (hereinafter
“SRD Program™) that provides for the placement of Sheriff's Office certified law enforcement deputies
(hereinafter “SRDs") at certain schools within the School District; and

WHEREAS, Effingham County (hereinafter “County™), the Sheriff’s Office, and the School District
previously desired to establish the guidelines of the SRD Program in order to have a mutual understanding
of the particular roles of each entity in relation to the SRD Program by entering into an Intergovernmental
Agreement By and Between the Effingham County School District, Effingham County, and the Effingham
County Sheriff’s Office dated October 2, 2018; and

WHEREAS, the City and the School District sought to expand upon the SRD Program by instituting and
establishing a Guyton School Resource Officer Program (hereinafter “Guyton SRO Program™) to provide
for the placement of a City certified law enforcement officer from its municipal police department
(hereinafter “Guyton SRO™) at a certain school within the School District which is also within the
geographical boundaries of the City; and

WHEREAS, the City and the School District also desired to establish the guidelines of the Guyton SRO
Program in order to have a mutual understanding of the particular roles of each entity in relation to the
Guyton SRO Program by entering into an Intergovernmental Agreement By and Between the Effingham
County School District and the City of Guyton, Georgia dated August 9, 2022; and

WHEREAS, the City and the School District wish to continue the Guyton SRO Program and the placement
of an SRO at a certain school within the School District; and

WHEREAS, to that end, the City and the School District now seek to update and amend the
aforementioned guidelines of the Guyton SRO Program by terminating the Intergovernmental Agreement
dated August 9, 2022 and replacing it with this 2025 Intergovernmental Agreement By and Between the
Effingham County School District and the City of Guyton, Georgia (hereinafter “Agreement”);



NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration described herein, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, and based on the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein,
the parties do hereby agree to terminate the aforementioned Intergovernmental Agreement between the
parties dated August 9, 2022 and to replace it with this Agreement which provides as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE

The School District and the City agree that the purpose of the Guyton SRO Program is to provide
resources and support for School District students, teachers, and staff in law enforcement related matters.
These resources and support include: allowing students to build positive relationships with law enforcement
officers, in the form of a Guyton SRO, in a non-confrontational setting; protecting persons and property on
School District vehicles and grounds; gathering information concerning criminal activity involving School
District vehicles and grounds; and generally enforcing applicable federal, state, and local law on and around
School District vehicles and grounds.

ARTICLE 2 - POLICY

[t is the policy of the City through its municipal police department to maintain a minimum of one
(1) Guyton SRO for placement at a certain school within the School District. One (1) Guyton SRO shall
be assigned to Guyton Elementary School.

ARTICLE 3 - CHAIN OF COMMAND

For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "Regular Academic Session" shall mean each period
beginning the week prior to the first day of class in a school year and ending one week after the last day of
class in a school year, said period being comprised of approximately 190 School District business days.

The Guyton SRO Program is part of the City through the City’s municipal police department, and
the Guyton SRO shall follow the chain of command of the City’s municipal police department. The Guyton
SRO shall coordinate activities with the assigned school’s administration. All school-related activity must
be coordinated by the Guyton SRO with the principal's office. When the Guyton SRO perceives that law
enforcement action is required at school, the Guyton SRO shall take such action and then notify the
principal of the action taken as soon as reasonably possible thereafter. The Guyton SRO is first and
foremost a law enforcement officer and employee of the City and, while performing duties as the Guyton
SRO, will remain an employee of the City with all rights, benefits, and privileges attaching thereto. At any
time during which the School District is not in Regular Academic Session, the Guyton SRO will report to
the City’s municipal police department and perform duties as assigned by and through the chain of
command there and receive law enforcement and Guyton SRO training. Upon request by the School
District, scheduling and time permitting, the Guyton SRO shall be available for additional School District
related duties at extracurricular activities as designated by school officials during the period when the
School District is not in Regular Academic Session, including sporting events, school registration, and
Summer School. Guyton SRO duties for extracurricular events and compensation therefor shall be
governed by a separate School Function Security Agreement agreed upon and executed by the City and the
School District.

ARTICLE 4 - SELECTION OF PERSONNEL AND MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS

The City, based upon criteria to be mutually established by the City and the School District, shall
appoint the Guyton SRO. The Guyton SRO will be a sworn and certified law enforcement officer and will
possess, at a minimum, these qualifications:

2




Peace Officers Standards and Training (POST) Certification;

Demonstrated ability to work well with young people and educators;

Demonstrated maturity and no history of conduct unbecoming an officer;

Skills in interpersonal relationships;

Skills in de-escalation of conflict and in conflict resolution;

Must adhere to the principle that a balanced approach be taken between law enforcement
activity and maintaining healthy community relations with citizens; and

Any other qualifications mutually established by the City. its Chief of Police. and the
School District in the future.

ARTICLE 5 - DISMISSAL OF THE GUYTON SRO

In the event that a principal of the school to which the Guyton SRO is assigned believes that the
assigned Guyton SRO is not effectively performing his/her duties and responsibilities, the Superintendent
of Schools (hereinafter “Superintendent™) shall notify the Guyton SRO supervisor, as designated by the
City. Within a reasonable amount of time after receiving such notification from the Superintendent, the
Guyton SRO supervisor shall advise the City of the Superintendent's concerns. If the City so desires, the
Superintendent and the Guyton SRO supervisor, or their designees, may meet with the Guyton SRO to
mediate or resolve any problems they may determine exist. Additionally, the Guyton SRO may
immediately be re-assigned to another post by the City and its Chief of Police.

ARTICLE 6 - GUYTON SRO DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Guyton SRO shall have the following duties and responsibilities, in addition to those described
elsewhere in this Agreement:;

Provide School District students, faculty, staff, and visitors with the opportunity to meet
and interact with a law enforcement officer in a non-confrontational setting;

Act as a deterrent to crime in school buildings, on school grounds, and in communities
surrounding schools, not only through a uniformed presence, but also by developing
positive relationships with School District students, faculty, and staff, and the
communities surrounding the schools;

Provide classroom instruction and act as a resource for information for School District
students, faculty, and staff concerning law enforcement topics:

Provide for the safety and security of School District students, faculty, staff, and visitors,
including during sporting events and extracurricular activities;

Make himself/herself available, as time permits, for conferencing with students, parents,
and faculty members in order to assist them with issues of a law enforcement and crime
prevention nature;

Respond to emergency situations that arise on School District vehicles or grounds within
the City's municipal boundaries and take whatever appropriate law enforcement action is
reasonable to resolve such situations:

Assist the City and/or its municipal police department in the investigation of any crimes
which occur on School District vehicles or grounds within the City’s municipal
boundaries; the Guyton SRO will contact additional law enforcement personnel to assist
him/her as determined to be needed by the Guyton SRO;

Enforce applicable federal, state, and local law;

Communicate with school administrators about law enforcement concerns on School
District vehicles or grounds;




Be present on school grounds during the Regular Academic Session while classes are in
session and ten (10) minutes before the first bell and ten (10) minutes after the last bell,
unless instructed otherwise, away on school-related business, on permitted leave (e.g.,
sick/vacation time or training) or a situation occurs where law enforcement must respond
elsewhere;

As needed, conduct formal interviews of School District students in accordance with the
City’s, its municipal police department’s, and School District policies;

Assist all federal, state, and local law enforcement agencies conducting interviews,
arrests, or other actions related to the School District in accordance with the City’s, its
municipal police department’s, and School District policies;

Maintain a “zero tolerance" policy as to all criminal gang activities, illegal drug
activities, and weapons on School District vehicles and grounds; criminal charges to be
filed by the Guyton SRO regarding such activities, as appropriate, and case files sent to
the courts of proper jurisdiction;

It is acknowledged that the Guyton SRO may be called upon as a witness or to participate
in the School District's disciplinary or truancy processes; however, the disciplining of
students for violations of School District policies is solely the responsibility of the School
District; the school principal may contact the Guyton SRO if the principal believes that an
incident involves a violation of law, after which the Guyton SRO shall determine whether
a law enforcement response is appropriate; the Guyton SRO is not to be utilized by the
School District for enforcing School District policies, rules, or regulations or for
monitoring the duties of School District employees: violations of School District policies,
rules, or regulations observed by the Guyton SRO shall be brought to the attention of the
appropriate School District administrator;

The Guyton SRO shall be responsible for scheduling any assignments with a school
which are outside the Guyton SRO’s regular-duty day for the School District during the
Regular Academic Session by coordinating with that school’s principal; however, any
such assignments must first be approved by the City and the School District; and

Attend pre-planning meetings with administration and instruction staff of the Guyton
SRO's assigned school for a complete orientation of the Guyton SRO Program as needed
or when requested.

ARTICLE 7 - SCHOOL DISTRICT DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Provide the Guyton SRO a reasonable work space at the assigned school;

Provide the Guyton SRO a copy of relevant School District policies and procedures;
Provide the Guyton SRO school operations training; and

Provide the Guyton SRO a high-visibility parking space in front of the school for a
Guyton SRO police vehicle.

ARTICLE 8 - CITY DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Provide the Guyton SRO with the usual and customary office supplies and forms
required for the performance of the Guyton SRO's duties;

Provide the Guyton SRO with uniforms and equipment required of law enforcement
personnel;

Provide the Guyton SRO with a law enforcement vehicle, fuel for the vehicle, and
maintenance of the vehicle;

Provide the Guyton SRO with law enforcement and Guyton SRO training; and

4




. Provide Liability and Workers' Compensation Insurance coverage for the Guyton SRO.
ARTICLE 9 - STUDENT RECORDS AND INFORMATION

The parties to this Agreement recognize their obligations to parents and eligible students under the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (hereinafter “FERPA™), 20 US.C. § 1232¢g, and its
implementing regulations, 34 C.F.R. §§ 99.1 - 99.67. Similarly, the parties are mindful of the requirements
of O.C.G.A. § 20-2-1183, as subject to the definitions, terms, and conditions of O.C.G.A. § 20-2-662 and
the related provisions of Effingham County Board of Education Policy JR: Student Records. It is the intent
of the parties that this Agreement, and their conduct (including the conduct of the Guyton SRO) undertaken
pursuant to the Agreement, comply with these laws, regulations, and policy. To that end, the following
rules shall apply:

FERPA Generally

FERPA is a federal law that protects the privacy of student education records. Generally, FERPA
protects the rights of parents and eligible students to (1) inspect and review education records, (2) seek to
amend education records, and (3) consent to the disclosure of personally identifiable information
(hereinafter “PIT”) from education records, except as specified by law.

Article 9 Definitions

“Directory information™ is information contained in the education records of a student that would
not generally be considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if disclosed. Directory information may
include the student’s name, address, telephone listing, electronic mail address, photograph, date and place
of birth, grade level, enrollment status, dates of attendance, participation in officially recognized activities
and sports, weight and height of members of athletic teams, and degrees, honors, and awards received.
For purposes of Article 9 of this Agreement, the following information is designated as directory
information:

a. Student’s name, address, and telephone number (address and
telephone number are only to be provided to certain vendors,
approved by the Superintendent, who provide specialized items
of interest to high school students, including, but not limited to,
those vendors marketing class rings, graduation invitations, and
graduation attire);

b. Student’s date of birth;

c. Student’s participation in official school clubs and sports;

d. Weight and height of student if the student is a member of an
athletic team;

e. Student’s dates of attendance at schools within the School
District;

f. Student’s honors and awards received during the time enrolled
in the School District’s schools;

g. Student’s photograph; and

h. Student’s school and grade level.




“Disclosure” is permitted access to or the release, transfer, or other communication of PII
contained in education records by any means, including oral, written, or electronic means, to any party,
except the party identified as the party that provided or created the record.

“Education records " are those records that are directly related to a student and maintained by an
educational agency or institution or by a party acting for the agency or institution. An education record
does not include the types of student data excepted in FERPA, student data collected by an operator when
it is used for internal operations purposes, student data that is not formatted for nor expected to be accessed
by school. local board of education, or department employees, or student data that a local board of
education determines cannot reasonably be made available to the parent or eligible student.

“Law enforcement unit” is any individual, office, department, division, or other component of an
educational agency or institution, such as a unit of commissioned police officers or non-commissioned
security guards, that is officially authorized or designated by that agency or institution to (1) enforce any
federal, state, or local law, or refer to appropriate authorities a matter for enforcement of any federal, state,
or local law against any individual or organization other than the agency or institution itself, or (2) maintain
the physical security and safety of the agency or institution. For purposes of Article 9 of this Agreement,
the City’s municipal police department (and its Guyton SRO) are considered law enforcement units.

“Law enforcement unil records” are those records, files, documents, and other materials that are
(1) created by a law enforcement unit, (2) created for a law enforcement purpose, and (3) maintained by a
law enforcement unit.

“Parent " is a parent of a student and includes a natural parent, a guardian, or an individual acting
as a parent in the absence of a parent or a guardian.

“PII'" includes, but is not limited to, the following:

Student’s name;

Name of student’s parent or other family members;

Address of student or student’s family;

Personal identifier of student, such as a social security number,
student number, or biometric record:

e. Other indirect identifier of student, such as date of birth, place of
birth, or mother’s maiden name;

e o

f. Other information of student that, alone or in combination. is
linked or linkable to the specific student that would allow a
reasonable person in the school community, who does not have
personal knowledge of the relevant circumstances, to identify the
student with reasonable certainty; and

g. Information of a student requested by a person who the
educational agency or institution reasonably believes knows the
identity of the student to whom the education record relates.

“Student” is any individual who is or has been in attendance at an educational agency or institution
and regarding whom the agency or institution maintains education regards. An “eligible student’ is a
student who has reached the age of 18 years of age.




“School Official " is an individual that a local educational agency has determined has a legitimate
educational interest in a student’s education record and to whom the local educational agency may disclose
a student’s education record.

“Record"” is information recorded in any way, including, but not limited to, handwriting, print,
computer media, video or audio tape, film, microfilm, and microfiche.

Treatment of Student Education Records and Information

With the exception of directory information, a student’s PII will not be released from an education
record without prior written consent of the parent or eligible student, except as authorized by FERPA and
its implementing regulations.

One of these exceptions to the release of a student’s PII applies to health and safety emergencies.
FERPA permits school officials to disclose PII from a student’s education records to appropriate parties
without the consent of a parent or eligible student in connection with an actual, impending, or imminent

emergency, if knowledge of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or
other individuals.

Unless a parent or eligible student makes a timely request to the principal of the school where the
student is enrolled that such information not be designated as directory information of the individual
student, such information will not be considered confidential and may be disclosed upon request, as
authorized by Article 9 of this Agreement. Even the release of directory information shall be limited,
however, to certain parties and for approved purposes as follows:

a. School publications, such as school yearbooks, website, school
newspapers, etc.;

b. Media outlets providing coverage of student academic, athletic,
and extracurricular competitions, honors, and awards;

(oA Certain vendors, approved by the Superintendent, who provide

specialized items of interest to high school students, including,
but not limited to, those vendors marketing class rings,
graduation invitations, and graduation attire;

d. Non-profit organizations who have been determined by the
Superintendent to provide services that may enhance the
instructional program of the school, including, but not limited to,
the local YMCA, 4-H Club, and Boys and Girls Scouts Clubs of
America;

e: Outside researchers, when research is determined by the
Superintendent to have merit to the improvement of the School
District; and

f. Other purposes, as approved by the Superintendent.

In addition, military recruiters may, upon request, be provided a student’s name, address, and
telephone numbers, unless parents have advised the School District that they do not want their student’s
information disclosed without their prior consent. Finally, in compliance with O.C.G.A. § 20-2-310, no
local board of education, its employees, nor anyone acting on its behalf shall disclose or otherwise provide
access to student directory information to any candidate or campaign committee, political action
committee or political organization, or any person or group acting on behalf of such political entities.

7




School District Responsibilities

The School District agrees to take the following actions to promote the safety, health, and well-
being of students and the school community:

. Release student education records to appropriate parties, such as law enforcement and
other first responders in an emergency situation, in order to protect the health and safety
of a student or other individuals; the school official must be able to explain, based on all
of the information available at that time, what the safety threat is and why it is significant
when the school official makes the disclosure;

. Designate certain types of student information as directory information each vear, and
immediately provide directory information regarding a student without the written
consent of the parent or eligible student to law enforcement, a judge or court personnel,
or another federal, state, or local agency or officer with a legal interest in such
information, provided that the parent or eligible student has not opted out of the
disclosure of directory information;

. Recognize the Guyton SRO as a school official under FERPA; therefore, a student’s
education record, data, and PII may be disclosed to the Guyton SRO if the Guyton SRO
has a legitimate educational interest to review the records, data, or PII in order to promote
school safety or secure the physical safety of students, staff, or a school vehicle or campus;

. Designate each of the entities listed in Exhibit A to this Agreement, who may, when
appropriate, be responsible for working with the School District to implement the School
District’s School Safety Plans in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 20-2-1185, as a school
official as a result of a triggering event or situation; the School District to provide said
entities, when appropriate, necessary student records, data, and PII for the duration of any
such triggering event or situation;

. Maintain a record of each request by the Guyton SRO for access to and each disclosure
of PII from a student’s education record; and
. Review its annual FERPA notification and designation of directory information to

determine if any updates are necessary.,

City Responsibilities

The City (through its municipal police department, where necessary) agrees to take the following
actions to promote the safety, health, and well-being of students and the school community:

. Acknowledge and agree that the School District must have direct control over a Guyton
SRO’s maintenance and use of any student’s education record, data, or PII that is
disclosed (unless such record, data or PII has been lawfully taken into as evidence, or as
otherwise permitted by FERPA);

. Limit access to student education records, data, and PII to the Guyton SRO performing
an investigation that is intended to protect the health and safety of students, staff, or
other individuals or to ensure the physical safety of a school vehicle or campus;

. Provide the School District with any written reports relating to any official encounter by
the City’s municipal police department with a school-age youth enrolled or potentially
enrolled in the School District by virtue of the youth’s primary address in which the
interaction is directly related to a credible report or other credible information that the
youth has threatened the death of, or serious injury to, one or more individuals who are or
will likely be at or within a school in the School District; this report shall be made to the
Superintendent or the Superintendent’s designee as soon as possible, but no later than five

8




(5) days from the date of the official encounter;

. Notify the Superintendent or the Superintendent’s designee if a school-age youth residing
in Effingham County is charged with a felony or Class A or Class B designated felony
act, as defined by O.C.G.A. § 15-11-2, and provide updates to the Superintendent or the
Superintendent’s designee on any court dispositions that may occur during the course of
the criminal proceedings; and

. Notify the Superintendent or the Superintendent’s designee if the City or the City’s
municipal police department receives a records request under federal or state law regarding
any documents that are provided to law enforcement under Article 9 of this Agreement,
and before the law enforcement agency responds to any such records request.

Article 9 Agreements Between the School District and City

. The City’s municipal police department and the Guyton SRO constitute a law
enforcement unit as defined herein;
. Documents created and maintained by the City’s municipal police department and the

Guyton SRO in conducting their duties and responsibilities as a law enforcement unit
shall remain law enforcement unit records that are not protected by FERPA or its
implementing regulations; and

. Any student education records provided under Article 9 of this Agreement are protected
under FERPA and may only be disclosed as provided by FERPA or under the terms of
Article 9 of this Agreement; education records do not lose their protected status when the
School District has transferred the records to a party under the terms of Article 9 of this
Agreement.

ARTICLE 10 - REVIEW OF GUYTON SRO PROGRAM

Guyton SRO evaluations will occur in June of each year. A Guyton SRO supervisor will perform
all such evaluations.

ARTICLE 11 - COMPENSATION

Unless otherwise provided in a separate School Function Security Agreement, all compensation,
including overtime pay, due to the Guyton SRO for work performed pursuant to this Agreement, as well as
insurance and other benefits, if any, shall be paid to the Guyton SRO by the City in accordance with the
City’s payroll procedures. The School District shall pay seventy-five percent (75%), and the City shall pay
twenty-five percent (25%) of the total cost described in this paragraph. The City will invoice the School
District twice per year for the School District’s share of all compensation paid to the Guyton SRO for
his/her work. The School District shall pay each such invoice within thirty (30) days of receipt.

The Parties acknowledge that the Guyton SRO’s law enforcement vehicle will require replacement
from time to time when no longer reasonably serviceable (e.g., the cost of repairs is not worthwhile due
to the age and condition of the vehicle or its components). The City, through its Chief of Police or
designee, shall notify the School District when a vehicle is no longer reasonably serviceable, and provide
the School District with a reasonable amount of time within which to inspect the vehicle. Upon the School
District’s consent to replacement of the vehicle, which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld, the
City and its Chief of Police shall procure quotes for the cost of a suitable replacement vehicle and for the
cost of outfitting the same and submit to the School District for approval, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld. For purposes of this Agreement, a “suitable replacement” shall be a vehicle that is

9




the same or similar to other recently purchased vehicles currently used and recently purchased by the
Police Department. Upon receipt of the School District’s approval, the City shall purchase a suitable
replacement vehicle in accordance with state and local law, shall outfit the vehicle, and then shall submit
an invoice for the cost to purchase and outfit the law enforcement vehicle to the School District. The
School District shall reimburse the City 75% of the invoiced cost within 30 days of receipt.

Work for extracurricular and similar activities which a Guyton SRO is requested by a school to
perform outside the Guyton SRO's regular-duty day for the School District during the Regular Academic
Session will be accepted solely at the option of the Guyton SRO (following approval by the City, Chief of
Police. and the School District) and will be governed by a separate School Function Security Agreement.
The Guyton SRO performing all work under this Agreement, including work outside the Guyton SRO’s
regular-duty day for the School District during the Regular Academic Session, is expected to comply at all
times with the standard operating procedures (hereinafter “SOPs™) and other applicable employment
policies of the City (including its municipal police department), and the parties acknowledge that the
Guyton SRO is subject to discipline by the City (through its chain of command) for violating any SOPs or
other applicable policies while performing any work for the School District. Considering the Guyton SRO
will also be in uniform and using equipment and vehicles of the City while performing work for the School
District outside the Guyton SRO’s regular-duty day for the School District during the Regular Academic
Session, the Guyton SRO will be considered to be engaged in law enforcement activity and will be covered
by the City's Liability and Workers® Compensation Insurance coverage while performing such work, just
as is the case while the Guyton SRO is conducting a regular-duty day for the School District during the
Regular Academic Session.

ARTICLE 12 -TERM

This Agreement shall initially become effective as of the date set forth on Page 1. The School
District is entering into this Agreement for a “school system” of the State of Georgia as such term is used
in 0.C.G.A. § 20-2-506, and the parties acknowledge that this Agreement is in compliance with said code
section, as amended. The parties further agree that unless terminated in accordance with the provisions set
forth herein, this Agreement shall expire absolutely without further obligation on the part of the City and
the School District, on December 31% of each year it becomes effective. However, this Agreement will
automatically renew for successive one-year terms commencing on January 1% and ending on December
31% of each year unless either party provides a notice of non-renewal to the other party at least sixty (60)
days prior to the expiration of the then-current term.

Either party may terminate this Agreement by providing the other party with sixty (60) days
advance notice of the effective date of termination.

ARTICLE 13 - INDEMNIFICATION

Each party does hereby agree, to the extent, if any, allowed by law, to indemnify and hold harmless
the other party, their officers, agents, servants, and employees from any and all injuries, claims, actions,
lawsuits, damages, judgments, or liabilities of any kind whatsoever arising out of their respective
performance of this Agreement, except as would relate to any injury, claim, action, lawsuit, damage,
judgment, or liability caused by or contributed to by a negligent, reckless, or intentional act of the party
seeking indemnification, its officers, agents, servants, or employees to the extent of such negligent,
reckless, or intentional act.




ARTICLE 14 - ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER

The rights, privileges, and obligations under this Agreement shall not be assigned or transferred
by either party; provided, however, that this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the successors of the parties hereto.

ARTICLE 15 - NOTICES

Any notices required or permitted pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing, and unless
otherwise stated, may be given by personal delivery, by overnight delivery, or by certified mail. to the
addresses set forth below. Notices personally delivered shall be considered received upon delivery. Notices
sent by overnight delivery shall be considered received on the next business day, unless the receiving party
presents evidence establishing that delivery was received on some day later. Notices sent by certified mail
shall be deemed to have been received on the date of acknowledgment on a return receipt.

. To the School District:
Superintendent of Schools
Effingham County School District
405 N. Ash Street
Springfield, Georgia 31329

. With a copy to:
James D. Kreyenbuhl, Esq.
Brennan, Harris & Rominger LLP
6001 Chatham Center Drive, Suite 310
Savannah., Georgia 31405

. To the City:
Mayor, City of Guyton
310 Central Boulevard
Guyton, Georgia 31312

$ With a copy to:
Benjamin M. Perkins, Esq.
Oliver Maner LLP
218 W. State Street
Savannah, Georgia 31401

. To the City’s municipal police department:
Chief of Police
Guyton Police Department
505 Magnolia Street
Guyton, Georgia 31312

- With a copy to:
Benjamin M. Perkins, Esq.
Oliver Maner LLP
218 W. State Street
Savannah, Georgia 31401

11




ARTICLE 16 - GENERAL PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT

The brief capitalized headings or titles designated as articles herein are for purposes of
identification, convenience, and ease of reference, and shall be disregarded in the construction of this
Agreement.

No failure of any party hereto to exercise any right or power granted under this Agreement, or to
insist upon strict compliance by another party with this Agreement, and no custom or practice of any party
at variance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, shall constitute a waiver of any such party's

right to demand exact and strict compliance by the other parties hereto with the terms and conditions of
this Agreement.

This Agreement shall be governed by, construed under, performed, and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of Georgia.

Should any provision of this Agreement require judicial interpretation, it is agreed and stipulated
by and among the parties that the court interpreting or construing the same shall not apply a presumption
that the terms, conditions, and provisions hereof shall be more strictly construed against one party by reason
of the rule of construction that an instrument is to be construed more strictly against the party who prepared
the same.

This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which is deemed an original
of equal dignity with the others and which is deemed one and the same instrument as the others,

ARTICLE 17 - ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties, and no modification
thereof shall be binding unless evidenced by a subsequent signed written agreement.

ARTICLE 18 - SEVERABILITY OF TERMS

In the event that any part or provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, the remainder of the
Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 19 - IMMUNITY

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any immunity to which
the parties, their officials, or employees are legally entitled.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals.

CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA

By: Date:
Andy Harville, Mayor

EFFINGHAM COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

By: Date:
Dr. Yancy Ford, Superintendent

12




2025 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN
THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT AND
THE CITY OF GUYTON, GEORGIA

EXHIBIT A

Guyton Fire Department

Rincon Fire Department

Springfield Fire Department

Guyton Police Department

Rincon Police Department

Springfield Police Department

Guyton Water / Sewer

Rincon Water / Sewer

Springfield Water / Sewer

Effingham County E-911

Effingham County Emergency Medical Services

Effingham County Health Department

Effingham County Public Works

Effingham County Sheriff’s Office

Effingham County Water / Sewer

Effingham Emergency Management Agency

Effingham Fire Department

Effingham Health System

Georgia Bureau of Investigation

Georgia Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities
Georgia Department of Human Services Division of Family & Children Services
Georgia Department of Juvenile Justice

Georgia Department of Natural Resources

Georgia Department of Public Health

Georgia Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency
Georgia Forestry Commission

Georgia State Fire Marshal’s Office

Georgia State Patrol



—enterprise

FLEET MANAGEMENT

MASTER EQUITY LEASE AGREEMENT

This Master Equity Lease Agreement is entered into this day of , 20 , by and between Enterprise FM Trust, a Delaware
statutory trust (“Lessor”), and the lessee whose name and address is set forth on the signature page below (*Lessee").

1. LEASE OF VEHICLES: Lessor hereby | to L and | hereby leases from Lessor the vehicles (individually, a “Vehicle” and collectively, the
“Vehicles") described in the schedules from time to time delivered by Lessor to Lessee as set forth below (*Schedule(s)”) for the rentals and on the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable Schedule. References to this “Agreement” shall include this Master Equity Lease Agreement and the
various Schedules and addenda to this Master Equity Lease Agreement, each of which are incorporated herein as part of a single, unitary Agreement. Lessor will,
on or about the date of delivery of each Vehicle to Lessee, send Lessee a Schedule covering the Vehicle, which will include, among other things, a description of
the Vehicle, the lease term and the monthly rental and other payments due with respect to the Vehicle. The terms contained in each such Schedule will be binding
on Lessee unless Lessee objects in writing to such Schedule within ten (10) days after the date of delivery of the Vehicle covered by such Schedule. Lessor is
the sole legal owner of each Vehicle. This Agreement is a lease only and Lessee will have no right, title or interest in or to the Vehicles except for the use of the
Vehicles as described in this Agreement. This Agreement shall be treated as a true lease for federal and applicable state income tax purposes with Lessor having
all benefits of ownership of the Vehicles. It is understood and agreed that Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. or an affiliate thereof (together with any subservicer,
agent, successor or assign as servicer on behalf of Lessor, “Servicer") may administer this Agreement on behalf of Lessor and may perform the service functions
herein provided to be performed by Lessor.

2. TERM: The term of this Agreement (“Term") for each Vehicle begins on the date such Vehicle is delivered to Lessee (the “Delivery Date") and, unless
terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, continues for the “Lease Term" as described in the applicable Schedule.

3. RENT AND OTHER CHARGES:

(a) Lessee agrees to pay Lessor monthly rental and other payments according to the Schedules, Open-End (Equity) Lease Rate Quotes, and this Agreement.
The monthly payments will be in the amount listed as the “Total Monthly Rental Including Additional Services" on the applicable Schedule (with any portion of
such amount identified as a charge for maintenance services under Section 4 of the applicable Schedule being payable to Lessor as agent for Enterprise Fleet
Management, Inc.) and will be due and payable in advance on the first day of each month. Lessee agrees to pay Lessor interest charges, in connection with
the acquisition of a Vehicle, for the period between the date Lessor issues payment to acquire such Vehicle and the date the Vehicle is delivered to Lessee.
Such interest charges shall be included in each Schedule. If a Vehicle is delivered to Lessee on any day other than the first day of a month, monthly rental payments
will begin on the first day of the next month. In addition to the monthly rental payments, Lessee agrees to pay Lessor a pro-rated rental charge for the number of
days that the Delivery Date precedes the first monthly rental payment date. A portion of each monthly rental payment, being the amount designated as
“Depreciation Reserve" on the applicable Schedule, will be considered as a reserve for depreciation and will be credited against the Delivered Price of the Vehicle
for purposes of computing the Book Value of the Vehicle under Section 3(c). Lessee agrees to pay Lessor the “Total Initial Charges” set forth in each Schedule on
the due date of the first manthly rental payment under such Schedule. Lessee agrees to pay Lessor the “Service Charge Due at Lease Termination” set forth in each
Schedule at the end of the applicable Term (whether by reason of expiration, early termination or otherwise).

(b) Inthe event the Term for any Vehicle ends prior to the last day of the scheduled Term, whether as a result of a default by Lessee, a Casualty Occurrence or any other
reason, the rentals and management fees paid by Lessee will be recalculated in accordance with the rule of 78's and the adjusted amount will be payable by
Lessee to Lessor on the termination date.

(c) Lessee agrees to pay Lessor within thirty (30) days after the end of the Term for each Vehicle, additional rent equal to the excess, if any, of the Book Value
of such Vehicle over the greater of (i) the wholesale value of such Vehicle as determined by Lessor in good faith or (ii) except as provided below, twenty percent
(20%) of the Delivered Price of such Vehicle as set forth in the applicable Schedule. If the Book Value of such Venhicle is less than the greater of (i) the wholesale
value of such Vehicle as determined by Lessor in good faith or (ii) except as provided below, twenty percent (20%) of the Delivered Price of such Vehicle as set
forth in the applicable Schedule, Lessor agrees to pay such deficiency to Lessee as a terminal rental adjustment after the end of the applicable Term (subject to
Lessor's right to recoup any amounts Lessor would owe to Lessee under this Section 3(c) against any obligations of Lessee to Lessor under this Agreement).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) the Term for a Vehicle is greater than forty-eight (48) months (including any extension of the Term for such Vehicle), (i) the
mileage on a Vehicle at the end of the Term is greater than 15,000 miles per year on average (prorated on a daily basis) (i.e., if the mileage on a Vehicle with a Term
of thirty-six (36) months is greater than 45,000 miles) or (iii) in the sole judgment of Lessor, a Vehicle has been subject to damage or any abnormal or excessive
wear and tear, the calculations described in the two immediately preceding sentences shall be made without giving effect to clause (i) in each such sentence. The
“Book Value” of a Vehicle means the sum of (i) the “Delivered Price” of the Vehicle as set forth in the applicable Schedule minus (ii) the total Depreciation Reserve
paid by Lessee to Lessor with respect to such Vehicle plus (iii) all accrued and unpaid rent and/or other amounts owed by Lessee with respect to such Vehicle.

(d) Any security deposit of Lessee will be returned to Lessee at the end of the applicable Term, except that the deposit will first be applied to and recouped
against any losses and/or damages suffered by Lessor as a result of Lessee’s breach of or defauit under this Agreement and/or to any other amounts then owed
by Lessee to Lessor.

(e) Any rental payment or other amount owed by Lessee to Lessor which is not paid within twenty (20) days after its due date will accrue interest, payable on

demand of Lessor, from the date due until paid in full at a rate per annum equal to the lesser of (i) Eighteen Percent (18%) per annum or (i) the highest rate
permitted by applicable law (the “Default Rate").

Initials: EFM Customer




(f) If Lessee fails to pay any amount due under this Agreement or to comply with any of the covenants contained in this Agreement, Lessor, Servicer or any other
agent of Lessor may, at its option, pay such amounts or perform such covenants and all sums paid or incurred by Lessor in connection therewith will be repayable
by Lessee to Lessor upon demand together with interest thereon at the Default Rate.

(g) Lessee’s obligations to make all payments of rent and other amounts under this Agreement are absolute and unconditional and such payments shall be made
in immediately available funds without setoff, counterclaim or deduction of any kind. Lessee acknowledges and agrees that neither any Casualty Occurrence
to any Vehicle nor any defect, unfitness or lack of governmental approval in, of, or with respect to, any Vehicle regardless of the cause or consequence nor any
breach by Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. of any maintenance agreement between Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. and Lessee covering any Vehicle
regardless of the cause or consequence will relieve Lessee from the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the
payment of rent and other amounts under this Agreement.

(h) In the event Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor arranges for rental vehicle(s) with a subsidiary or affiliate of Enterprise Holdings, Inc., Lessee shall
be fully responsible for all obligations under any applicable rental agreement.

4. USE AND SURRENDER OF VEHICLES: Lessee agrees to allow only duly authorized, licensed and insured drivers to use and operate the Vehicles. Lessee
agrees to comply with, and cause its drivers to comply with, all laws, statutes, rules, regulations and ordinances (including without limitation such federal, state
and local laws, statutes, rules, regulations and ordinances governing autonomous vehicles and automated driving systems and any parts, components and
products related thereto) and the provisions of all insurance policies affecting or covering the Vehicles or their use or operation. In connection with autonomous
vehicles and automated driving systems and the parts, components and products related thereto, Lessee agrees to comply with all applicable guidance and
professional standards issued, released or published by governmental and quasi-governmental agencies, including without limitation the federal guidance for
automated vehicles published by the Department of Transportation and the Federal Automated Vehicle Policy issued by the U.S. Department of Transportation
and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Lessee agrees to keep the Vehicles free of all liens, charges and encumbrances. Lessee agrees that
in no event will any Vehicle be used or operated for transporting hazardous substances or persons for hire, for any illegal purpose or to pull trailers that exceed
the manufacturer's trailer towing recommendations. Lessee agrees that no Vehicle is intended to be or will be utilized as a “school bus” as defined in the Code
of Federal Regulations or any applicable state or municipal statute or regulation. Lessee agrees not to remove any Vehicle from the continental United States
without first obtaining Lessor's written consent, At the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement with respect to each Vehicle, or upon demand by Lessor
made pursuant to Section 14, Lessee at its risk and expense agrees to return such Vehicle to Lessor at such place and by such reasonable means as may be
designated by Lessor. If for any reason Lessee fails to return any Vehicle to Lessor as and when required in accordance with this Section, Lessee agrees to pay
Lessor additional rent for such Vehicle at twice the normal pro-rated daily rent. Acceptance of such additional rent by Lessor will in no way limit Lessor's remedies
with respect to Lessee's failure to return any Vehicle as required hereunder.

5. COSTS, EXPENSES, FEES AND CHARGES: Lessee agrees to pay all costs, expenses, fees, charges, fines, tickets, penalties and taxes (other than federal
and state income taxes on the income of Lessor) incurred in connection with the titling, licensing, registration, delivery, purchase, sale, rental, and Lessee's use

or operation of the Vehicles. If Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor incurs any such costs or expenses, Lessee agrees to promptly reimburse Lessor for
the same.

6. LICENSE AND CHARGES: Each Vehicle will be titled, registered and licensed in the name designated by Lessor at Lessee's expense. Certain other charges
relating to the acquisition of each Vehicle and paid or satisfied by Lessor have been capitalized in determining the monthly rental, treated as an initial charge or
otherwise charged to Lessee. Such charges have been determined without reduction for trade-in, exchange allowance or other credit attributable to any Lessor-
owned vehicle.

7. REGISTRATION PLATES, ETC.: Lessee agrees, at its expense, to obtain in the name designated by Lessor all registration plates and other plates, permits,
inspections and/or licenses required in connection with the Vehicles, except for the initial registration plates which Lessor will obtain at Lessee's expense. The
parties agree to cooperate and to furnish any and all information or documentation, which may be reasonably necessary for compliance with the provisions of this
Section or any federal, state or local law, rule, regulation or ordinance. Lessee agrees that it will not permit any Vehicle to be located in a state other than the state
in which such Vehicle is then titled for any continuous period of time that would require such Vehicle to become subject to the titling, licensing and/or registration
laws of such other state.

8. MAINTENANCE OF AND IMPROVEMENTS TO VEHICLES:

(a) Lessee agrees, at its expense, to (i) maintain the Vehicles in good condition, repair, maintenance and running order and in accordance with all manufacturer’s
instructions and warranty requirements and all legal requirements and (ii) furnish all labor, materials, parts and other essentials required for the proper operation
and maintenance of the Vehicles. Lessee will not make (or cause to be made) any alterations, upgrades, upfitting, additions or improvements (collectively,
“Alterations") to any Vehicle which (i) could impact or impair the “motor vehicle safety” (as defined by the Motor Vehicle Safety Act) of the Vehicle, or (i) could
impact, impair, void or render unenforceable the manufacturer's warranty. Without the prior written consent of Lessor, Lessee will not make (or cause to be made)
any Alterations to any Vehicle which (i) detracts, impairs, damages or alters the Vehicle's nature, purpose, economic value, remaining useful life, functionality,
utility, software or controls, or (ii) subjects the Vehicle or any part or component of such Vehicle to any lien, charge or encumbrance. Any Alterations of any nature
to a Vehicle are made at Lessee's sole cost, risk and liability, including without limitation, any such Alterations approved by, or made with the assistance or at
the direction of Lessor. Any replacement parts added to any Vehicle shall be in at least as good an operating condition as the prior part before the replacement
(assuming such part was, at the time of the replacement, in the condition required by the terms of this Agreement). Any Alterations to a Vehicle will become and
remain the property of Lessor and will be returned with such Vehicle upon such Vehicle's return pursuant to Section 4 and shall be free of any liens, charges
or encumbrances; provided, however, Lessor shall have the right at any time to require Lessee to remove any such Alteration at Lessee's sole cost, expense
and liability. In no event or instance shall the value of any Alterations be regarded as rent. Lessee and Lessor acknowledges and agrees that Lessor will not be
required to make any repairs, replacements or Alterations of any nature or description with respect to any Vehicle, to maintain or repair any Vehicle or to make any

Initials: EFM Customer




expenditure whatsoever in connection with any such Vehicle(s) or this Agreement.

(b) Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that if Section 4 of a Schedule includes a charge for maintenance, (i) the Vehicle(s) covered by such Schedule
are subject to a separate maintenance agreement between Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. and Lessee and (i) Lessor shall have no liability or responsibility
for any failure of Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. to perform any of its obligations thereunder or to pay or reimburse Lessee for its payment of any costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the maintenance or repair of any such Vehicle(s).

9. SELECTION OF VEHICLES AND DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES:

(a) LESSEE ACCEPTANCE OF DELIVERY AND USE OF EACH VEHICLE WILL CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISH THAT SUCH VEHICLE IS OF A SIZE, DESIGN,
CAPACITY, TYPE AND MANUFACTURE SELECTED BY LESSEE AND THAT SUCH VEHICLE IS IN GOOD CONDITION AND REPAIR AND IS SATISFACTORY
INALL RESPECTS AND IS SUITABLE FOR LESSEE'S PURPOSE. LESSEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT LESSOR IS NOT AMANUFACTURER OF ANY VEHICLE
OR AN AGENT OF A MANUFACTURER OF ANY VEHICLE.

(b) LESSOR MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO ANY VEHICLE, INCLUDING,
WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR
PURPOSE, IT BEING AGREED THAT ALL SUCH RISKS ARE TO BE BORNE BY LESSEE. THE VEHICLES ARE LEASED "AS IS," “WITH ALL FAULTS." All
warranties made by any supplier, vendor and/or manufacturer of a Vehicle are hereby assigned by Lessor to Lessee for the applicable Term and Lessee’s only
remedy, if any, is against the supplier, vendor or manufacturer of the Vehicle.

(c) None of Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor will be liable to Lessee for any liability, claim, loss, damage (direct, incidental or consequential) or
expense of any kind or nature, caused directly or indirectly, by any Vehicle or any inadequacy of any Vehicle for any purpose or any defect (latent or patent) in
any Vehicle or the use or maintenance of any Vehicle or any repair, servicing or adjustment of or to any Vehicle, or any delay in providing or failure to provide any
Vehicle, or any interruption or loss of service or use of any Vehicle, or any loss of business or any damage whatsoever and however caused. In addition, none of
Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor will have any liability to Lessee under this Agreement or under any order authorization form executed by Lessee if
Lessor is unable to locate or purchase a Vehicle ordered by Lessee or for any delay in delivery of any Vehicle ordered by Lessee.

(d) In no event shall Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor or their respective affiliates be liable for consequential, indirect, incidental, special, exemplary,
punitive or enhanced damages, lost profits or revenues or diminution in value, arising out of or relating to this Agreement, including, without limitation, any breach
or performance of this Agreement, regardless of (i) whether such damages were foreseeable, (ii) whether or not Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor or
their respective affiliates were advised of the possibility of such damages and/or (iii) the legal or equitable theory (contract, tort or otherwise) upon which a claim,
action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, proceeding or litigation is based, and notwithstanding the failure of any agreed or other remedy of
its essential purpose.

10. RISK OF LOSS: Lessee assumes and agrees to bear the entire risk of lass of, theft of, damage to or destruction of any Vehicle from any cause whatsoever
(“Casualty Occurrence”). In the event of a Casualty Occurrence to a Vehicle, Lessee shall give Lessor prompt notice of the Casualty Occurrence and thereafter
will place the applicable Vehicle in good repair, condition and working order; provided, however, that if the applicable Vehicle is determined by Lessor to be lost,
stolen, destroyed or damaged beyond repair (a “Totaled Vehicle"), Lessee agrees to pay Lessor no later than the date thirty (30) days after the date of the Casualty
Occurrence the amounts owed under Sections 3(b) and 3(c) with respect to such Totaled Vehicle. Upon such payment, this Agreement will terminate with respect
to such Totaled Vehicle.

11. INSURANCE:

(a) Lessee agrees to purchase and maintain in force during the Term, insurance policies in at least the amounts listed below covering each Vehicle, to be written
by an insurance company or companies satisfactory to Lessor, insuring Lessee, Lessor and any other person or entity designated by Lessor against any damage.
claim, suit, action or liability, and that Lessor will suffer immediate and irreparable harm if Lessee fails to comply with such obligations:

(i) Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance (including Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist Coverage and No-Fault Protection where required by law) for the
limits listed below (Note - $2,000,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage per accident with No Deductible is required for each
Vehicle capable of transporting more than 8 passengers):

State of Vehicle Reaistration = Coverage

Connecticut, Massachusetts, Maine, New Hampshire, New Jersey, $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage
New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, and Vermont per accident - No Deductible

Florida $500,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage per
accident or $100,000 Bodily Injury Per Person Per Accident, $300,000
Per Accident and $50,000 Property Damage per accident (100/300/50)
- No Deductible

All Other States $300,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage Per
Accident or $100,000 Bodily Injury Per Persan Per Accident, $300,000
Per Accident and $50,000 Property Damage Per Accident (100/300/50)

Initials: EFM Customer - No Deductible




(i) Physical Damage Insurance (Collision & Comprehensive): Actual cash value of the applicable Vehicle. Maximum deductible of $1,000 per accident - Collision
and $1,000 per accident - Comprehensive).

If the requirements of any governmental or regulatory agency exceed the minimums stated in this Agreement, Lessee must obtain and maintain the higher
insurance requirements. Lessee agrees that each required policy of insurance will by appropriate endorsement or otherwise name Lessor and any other person
or entity designated by Lessor as additional insureds and loss payees, as their respective interests may appear. Further, each such insurance policy must provide
the following: (i) that the same may not be cancelled, changed or modified until after the insurer has given to Lessor, Servicer and any other person or entity
designated by Lessor at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of such proposed cancellation, change or modification, (i) that no act or default of Lessee or any
other person or entity shall affect the right of Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or assigns to recover under such
policy or policies of insurance in the event of any loss of or damage to any Vehicle and (jii) that the coverage is “primary coverage" for the protection of Lessee,
Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and their respective successors and assigns notwithstanding any other coverage carried by Lessee, Lessor, Servicer,
any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or assigns protecting against similar risks. Original certificates evidencing such coverage and
naming Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and any other person or entity designated by Lessor as additional insureds and loss payees shall be furnished
to Lessor prior to the Delivery Date, and annually thereafter and/or as reasonably requested by Lessor from time to time. In the event of default, Lessee hereby
appoints Lessor, Servicer and any other agent of Lessor as Lessee's attorney-in-fact to receive payment of, to endorse all checks and other documents and to
take any other actions necessary to pursue insurance claims and recover payments if Lessee fails to do so. Any expense of Lessor, Servicer or any other agent
of Lessor in adjusting or collecting insurance shall be borne by Lessee.

Lessee, its drivers, servants and agents agree to cooperate fully with Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and any insurance carriers in the investigation,
defense and prosecution of all claims or suits arising from the use or operation of any Vehicle. If any claim is made or action commenced for death, personal injury
or property damage resulting from the ownership, maintenance, use or operation of any Vehicle, Lessee will promptly notify Lessor of such action or claim and
forward to Lessor a copy of every demand, notice, summons or other process received in connection with such claim or action.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 11(a) above: (i) if Section 4 of a Schedule includes a charge for physical damage waiver, Lessor agrees that (A)
Lessee will not be required to obtain or maintain the minimum physical damage insurance (collision and comprehensive) required under Section 11(a) for the
Vehicle(s) covered by such Schedule and (B) Lessor will assume the risk of physical damage (collision and comprehensive) to the Vehicle(s) covered by such
Schedule; provided, however, that such physical damage waiver shall not apply to, and Lessee shall be and remain liable and responsible for, damage to a
covered Vehicle caused by wear and tear or mechanical breakdown or failure, damage to or loss of any parts, accessories or components added to a covered
Vehicle by Lessee without the prior written consent of Lessor and/or damage to or loss of any property and/or personal effects contained in a covered Vehicle. In
the event of a Casualty Occurrence to a covered Vehicle, Lessor may, at its option, replace, rather than repair, the damaged Vehicle with an equivalent vehicle,
which replacement vehicle will then constitute the “Vehicle” for purposes of this Agreement; and (ii) if Section 4 of a Schedule includes a charge for commercial
automobile liability enroliment, Lessor agrees that it will, at its expense, obtain for and on behalf of Lessee, by adding Lessee as an additional insured under a
commercial automobile liability insurance policy issued by an insurance company selected by Lessor, commercial automobile liability insurance satisfying the
minimum commercial automobile liability insurance required under Section 11(a) for the Vehicle(s) covered by such Schedule. Lessor may at any time during the
applicable Term terminate said obligation to provide physical damage waiver and/or commercial automobile liability enroliment and cancel such physical damage
waiver and/or commercial automabile liability enrollment upon giving Lessee at least ten (10) days prior written notice. Upon such cancellation, insurance in the
minimum amounts as set forth in 11(a) shall be obtained and maintained by Lessee at Lessee's expense. An adjustment will be made in monthly rental charges
payable by Lessee to reflect any such change and Lessee agrees to furnish Lessor with satisfactory proof of insurance coverage within ten (10) days after mailing
of the notice. In addition, Lessor may change the rates charged by Lessor under this Section 11(b) for physical damage waiver and/or commercial automaobile
liability enrollment upon giving Lessee at least thirty (30) days prior written notice.

12. INDEMNITY: To the extent permitted by state law, Lessee agrees to defend and indemnify Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and their respective
successors and assigns from and against any and all losses, damages, liabilities, suits, claims, demands, costs and expenses (including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) which Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or assigns may incur by reason
of Lessee’s breach or violation of, or failure to observe or perform, any term, provision or covenant of this Agreement, or as a result of any loss, damage, theft or
destruction of any Vehicle or related to or arising out of or in connection with the use, operation or condition of any Vehicle. The provisions of this Section 12 shall
survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement. Nothing herein shall be deemed to affect the rights, privileges, and immunities of Lessee and the foregoing
indemnity provision is not intended to be a waiver of any sovereign immunity afforded to Lessee pursuant to the law.

13. INSPECTION OF VEHICLES; ODOMETER DISCLOSURE; FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: Lessee agrees to accomplish, at its expense, all inspections of the
Vehicles required by any governmental authority during the Term. Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and any of their respective successors or assigns will
have the right to inspect any Vehicle at any reasonable time(s) during the Term and for this purpose to enter into or upon any building or place where any Vehicle is
located. Lessee agrees to comply with all odometer disclosure laws, rules and regulations and to provide such written and signed disclosure information on such
forms and in such manner as directed by Lessor. Providing false information or failure to complete the odometer disclosure form as required by law may result
in fines and/or imprisonment. Lessee hereby agrees to promptly deliver to Lessor such financial statements and other financial information regarding Lessee as
Lessor may from time to time reasonably request.

14. DEFAULT; REMEDIES: The following shall constitute events of default ("Events of Default”) by Lessee under this Agreement: (a) if Lessee fails to pay when
due any rent or other amount due under this Agreement and any such failure shall remain unremedied for ten (10) days; (b) if Lessee fails to perform, keep or
observe any term, provision or covenant contained in Section 11 of this Agreement; (c) if Lessee fails to perform, keep or observe any other term, provision or
covenant contained in this Agreement and any such failure shall remain unremedied for thirty (30) days after written notice thereof is given by Lessor, Servicer or
any other agent of Lessor to Lessee; (d) any seizure or confiscation of any Vehicle or any other act (other than a Casualty Occurrence) otherwise rendering any
Vehicle unsuitable for use (as determined by Lessor); (e) if any present or future guaranty in favor of Lessor of all or any portion of the obligations of Lessee under
this Agreement shall at any time for any reason cease to be in full force and effect or shall be declared to be null and void by a court of competent jurisdiction, or

Initials: EFM Customer




if the validity or enforceability of any such guaranty shall be contested or denied by any guarantor, or if any guarantor shall deny that it, he or she has any further
liability or obligation under any such guaranty or if any guarantor shall fail to comply with or observe any of the terms, provisions or conditions contained in any
such guaranty; (f) the occurrence of a material adverse change in the financial condition, a going concern audit comment of Lessee or any guarantor, or if Lessee
admits that it cannot pay its debts as they become due, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, is the subject of a voluntary or involuntary petition for
bankruptcy, is adjudged insolvent or bankrupt, or a receiver or trustee is appointed for any portion of Lessee's assets or property; (g) if more than one (1) payment
by Lessee to Lessor is returned by Lessee's bank for any reason within a twelve (12) month period; or (h) if Lessee or any guarantor is in default under or fails
to comply with any other present or future agreement with or in favor of Lessor, Servicer of Lessor, or any direct or indirect subsidiary of Servicer of Lessor,
Enterprise Holdings, Inc. or a subsidiary or affiliate of Enterprise Holdings, Inc.. For purposes of this Section 14, the term "guarantor” shall mean any present or
future guarantor of all or any portion of the obligations of Lessee under this Agreement.

Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, Lessor, without notice to Lessee, will have the right to exercise concurrently or separately (and without any election
of remedies being deemed made), the following remedies: (a) Lessor may demand and receive immediate possession of any or all of the Vehicles from Lessee,
without releasing Lessee from its obligations under this Agreement; if Lessee fails to surrender possession of the Vehicles to Lessor on default (or termination or
expiration of the Term), Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and any of Lessor's independent contractors shall have the right to enter upon any premises
where the Vehicles may be located and to remove and repossess the Vehicles; (b) Lessor may enforce performance by Lessee of its obligations under this
Agreement; (c) Lessor may recover damages and expenses sustained by Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or
assigns by reason of Lessee's default including, to the extent permitted by applicable law, all costs and expenses, including court costs and reasonable attorneys’
fees and expenses, incurred by Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or assigns in attempting or effecting enforcement
of Lessor's rights under this Agreement (whether or not litigation is commenced) and/or in connection with bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings; (d) upon written
notice to Lessee, Lessor may terminate Lessee's rights under this Agreement; (e) with respect to each Vehicle, Lessor may recover from Lessee all amounts owed
by Lessee under Sections 3(b) and 3(c) of this Agreement (and, if Lessor does not recover possession of a Vehicle, (i) the estimated wholesale value of such
Vehicle for purposes of Section 3(c) shall be deemed to be $0.00 and (ii) the calculations described in the first two sentences of Section 3(c) shall be made without
giving effect to clause (ji) in each such sentence); and/or (f) Lessor may exercise any other right or remedy which may be available to Lessor under the Uniform
Commercial Code, any other applicable law or in equity. A termination of this Agreement shall occur only upon written notice by Lessor to Lessee, Any termination
shall not affect Lessee's obligation to pay all amounts due for periods prior to the effective date of such termination or Lessee’s obligation to pay any indemnities
under this Agreement. All remedies of Lessor under this Agreement or at law or in equity are cumulative.

15. ASSIGNMENTS: Lessor may from time to time assign, pledge or transfer this Agreement and/or any or all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement
to any person or entity. Lessee agrees, upon notice of any such assignment, pledge or transfer of any amounts due or to become due to Lessor under this
Agreement to pay all such amounts to such assignee, pledgee or transferee. Any such assignee, pledgee or transferee of any rights or obligations of Lessor under
this Agreement will have all of the rights and obligations that have been assigned to it. Lessee's rights and interest in and to the Vehicles are and will continue
at all times to be subject and subordinate in all respects to any assignment, pledge or transfer now or hereafter executed by Lessor with or in favor of any such
assignee, pledgee or transferee, provided that Lessee shall have the right of quiet enjoyment of the Vehicles so long as no Event of Default under this Agreement
has occurred and is continuing. Lessee acknowledges and agrees that the rights of any assignee, pledgee or transferee in and to any amounts payable by the
Lessee under any provisions of this Agreement shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be subject to any abatement whatsoever, or to any defense,
setoff, counterclaim or recoupment whatsoever, whether by reason of any damage to or loss or destruction of any Vehicle or by reason of any defect in or failure of
title of the Lessor or interruption from whatsoever cause in the use, operation or possession of any Vehicle, or by reason of any indebtedness or liability howsoever
and whenever arising of the Lessor or any of its affiliates to the Lessee or to any other person or entity, or for any other reason.

Without the prior written consent of Lessor, Lessee may not assign, sublease, transfer or pledge this Agreement, any Vehicle, or any interest in this Agreement or
in and to any Vehicle, or permit its rights under this Agreement or any Vehicle to be subject to any lien, charge or encumbrance. Lessee’s interest in this Agreement
is not assignable and cannot be assigned or transferred by operation of law. Lessee will not transfer or relinquish possession of any Vehicle (except for the sole
purpose of repair or service of such Vehicle) without the prior written consent of Lessor,

16. MISCELLANEOUS: This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties. This Agreement may only be amended or modified by an instrument
in writing executed by both parties. Lessor shall not by any act, delay, omission or otherwise be deemed to have waived any of its rights or remedies under this
Agreement and no waiver whatsoever shall be valid unless in writing and signed by Lessor and then only to the extent therein set forth. A waiver by Lessor of any
right or remedy under this Agreement an any one occasion shall not be construed as a bar to any right or remedy, which Lessor would otherwise have on any future
occasion. If any term or provision of this Agreement or any application of any such term or provision is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement
and any other application of such term or provision will not be affected thereby. Without Lessor’s prior written consent, Lessee shall not use or include Lessor's,
Servicer’s, any other agent of Lessor's names or trademarks orally or in writing in any media, customer lists or marketing materials. Giving of all notices under this
Agreement will be sufficient if mailed by certified mail to a party at its address set forth below or at such other address as such party may provide in writing from
time to time. Any such notice mailed to such address will be effective one (1) day after deposit in the United States mail, duly addressed, with certified mail, postage
prepaid. Lessee will promptly notify Lessor of any change in Lessee’s address. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts (including facsimile and
pdf counterparts), but the counterpart marked “ORIGINAL" by Lessor will be the original lease for purposes of applicable law. All of the representations, warranties,
covenants, agreements and obligations of each Lessee under this Agreement (if more than one) are joint and several.

17. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS; GOVERNING LAW: Subject to the provisions of Section 15, this Agreement will be binding upon Lessee and its heirs,
executors, personal representatives, successors and assigns, and will inure to the benefit of Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and their respective
successors and assigns. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of Missouri (determined without
reference to conflict of law principles).

18. NON-PETITION: Each party hereto hereby covenants and agrees that, prior to the date which is one year and one day after payment in full of all indebtedness

Initials: EFM Customer,




of Lessor, it shall not institute against, or join any other person in instituting against, Lessor any bankruptcy, rearganization, arrangement, insolvency or liquidation
proceedings or other similar proceeding under the laws of the United States or any state of the United States. The provisions of this Section 18 shall survive
termination of this Master Equity Lease Agreement.

19. NON-APPROPRIATION: Lessee's funding of this Agreement shall be on a Fiscal Year basis and is subject to annual appropriations. Lessor acknowledges
that Lessee is a municipal corporation, is precluded by the County or State Constitution and other laws from entering into obligations that financially bind future
governing bodies, and that, therefore, nothing in this Agreement shall constitute an obligation of future legislative bodies of the County or State to appropriate
funds for purposes of this Agreement. Accordingly, the parties agree that the lease terms within this Agreement or any Schedules relating hereto are contingent
upon appropriation of funds. The parties further agree that should the County or State fail to appropriate such funds, the Lessor shall be paid all rentals due and
owing hereunder up until the actual day of termination. In addition, Lessor reserves the right to be paid for any reasonable damages. These reasonable damages
will be limited to the losses incurred by the Lessor for having to sell the vehicles on the open used car market prior to the end of the scheduled term (as determined
in Section 3 and Section 14 of this Agreement).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee have duly executed this Master Equity Lease Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

LESSOR: Enterprise FM Trust

LESSEE: By: Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. its attorney in fact
) Signature:
Signature:
By:
By: Y
Title:
Title:
Address:
Address:
) Date Signed:
Date Signed: ,
Initials; EFM Customer,




-enterprise
FLEET MANAGEMENT

MAINTENANCE MANAGEMENT AND FLEET RENTAL AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into as of the day of , by and between Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc., a Missouri corporation, doing
business as “Enterprise Fleet Management" (“EFM"), and (the “Company”).

1. ENTERPRISE CARDS: EFM will provide the Company with an EFM Card for each vehicle, which EFM Card is an electronic card and is located on the Efleets
mobile app and the efleets.com client website, for use in authorizing the payment of charges incurred in connection with the vehicle maintenance program

(the "Program”) for a vehicle. The Company agrees to be and shall be liable to EFM for all charges made by or for the account of the Company with the EFM

Card (other than any charges which are the responsibility of EFM under the terms of this Agreement). EFM will invoice the Company for all such charges, and

the Company agrees to and shall pay to EFM all invoiced amounts in accordance with the terms of this Maintenance Management and Fleet Rental Agreement
(Agreement). EFM reserves the right, and the Company agrees and acknowledges that EFM shall have the right, to change the terms and conditions as set forth

in this Agreement for the use of the EFM Card at any time. The EFM Card is and shall remain at all times the property of EFM, and EFM may revoke the Company's
right to possess, access, or use the EFM Card at any time and for any reason. The EFM Card is non-transferable. EFM will provide a driver information packet (the
“Packet”) outlining the Maintenance Management Program. The Parties agree that the Maintenance Management Program is subject to the terms and conditions of
the Packet.

2. VEHICLE REPAIRS AND SERVICE: EFM will provide purchase order control by telephone, electronic mail, or in writing authorizing charges for service,
maintenance, or repairs exceeding $125.00, which may change from time to time based on market conditions, or such other amount as may be established by
EFM, in its sole discretion, from time to time under the Program. All charges for service, maintenance or repairs will be invoiced to EFM. Invoices will be reviewed
by EFM for accuracy, proper application of any applicable manufacturer’s warranty, application of potential discounts and unnecessary, unauthorized repairs.

Notwithstanding the above, in the event the repairs and service are the result of damage from an accident or other non-maintenance related cause (including

glass claims), these matters will be referred to the Company’s Fleet Manager. If the Company prefers that EFM handle the damage repair, the Company agrees to
assign the administration of the matter to EFM. EFM will administer such claims in its discretion. The fees for this service will be up to $125.00 per claim and the
Company agrees to reimburse for repairs as outlined in this agreement. If the Company desires the assistance of EFM in recovering damage amounts from at fault
third parties, a Vehicle Risk Management Agreement must be on file for the Company.

3. BILLING AND PAYMENT: All audited invoices paid by EFM on behalf of the Company will be consolidated and submitted to the Company on a single monthly
invoice for the entire Company fleet covered under this Agreement. The Company is liable for, and will pay EFM within twenty (20) days after receipt of an invoice
or statement for, all purchases invoiced to the Company by EFM, which were paid by EFM for or on behalf of the Company. EFM will be entitled to retain for its
own account, and treat as being paid by EFM for purposes of this Agreement, any discounts it receives from a supplier with respect to such purchases which are
based on the overall volume of business EFM provides to such supplier and not solely the Company’s business.

4. RENTAL VEHICLES: The EFM Card allows the Company the option to arrange for a rental vehicle at a discounted rate with a subsidiary or affiliate of Enterprise
Holdings, Inc. (“EHI") for a maximum of two (2) days without prior authorization from EFM. Extensions beyond two (2) days must be approved by EFM. The
Company shall be fully responsible for all obligations under any rental agreement with a subsidiary or affiliate of EHI pursuant to this Agreement. All drivers of

a rental vehicle must be at least twenty one (21) years of age unless otherwise required by law, hold a valid driver’s license, be an employee of the Company and
authorized by the Company through established reservation procedures and meet all other applicable requirements of the applicable subsidiary or affiliate of EHI.
The Company will be provided a specific telephone number for use in arranging a rental vehicle described in this Section.

5. NO WARRANTY: The Company acknowledges that EFM does not perform maintenance or repair services on the Company’s vehicles or any rental vehicles
and any maintenance or repair services are to be performed by third parties. EFM MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WHATSOEVER OF ANY KIND,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WHETHER ARISING BY COURSE OF DEALING, COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, USAGE OF TRADE OR OTHERWISE WITH RESPECT TO
PRODUCTS, REPAIRS OR SERVICES PROVIDED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT BY THIRD PARTIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY
REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO MERCHANTABILITY, COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFICATIONS, OPERATION, CONDITION, SUITABILITY, PERFORMANCE,
QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR USE. Any defect in the performance of any product, repair or service will not relieve the Company from its obligations under this
Agreement, including without limitation the payment to EFM of monthly invoices.

6. CANCELLATION: Either party may cancel any Card under this Agreement or this Agreement in its entirety at any time by giving thirty (30) days written notice
to the other party. The cancellation of any Card or termination of this Agreement will not affect any rights or obligations under this Agreement, which shall have
previously accrued or shall thereafter arise with respect to any occurrence prior to such cancellation or termination. Upon such cancellation or termination, the
Company shall immediately cease using or accessing the EFM Card. Notice to EFM regarding the cancellation of any Card shall specify the Card number and
identify the Company’s representative. EFM will exercise due care to prevent additional charges from being incurred once the Company has notified EFM of its
desire to cancel any outstanding Card under this Agreement.

Initials: EFM Company




7. NOTICES: Any notice or other communication under this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered in person, electronic mail or mailed postage prepaid
by registered or certified mail or sent by express overnight delivery service with a nationally recognized carrier, to the applicable party at its address set forth

on the signature page of this Agreement, or at such other address as any party hereto may designate as its address for communications under this Agreement
by notice so given. Any such notice or communication sent by mail will be effective and deemed received three (3) days after deposit in the United States mail,
duly addressed to the address for the Party set forth below, with registered or certified mail postage prepaid. Any such notice or communication sent by express
overnight delivery service with a nationally recognized carrier will be effective and deemed received one (1) day after deposit with such delivery service, duly
addressed, with delivery fees prepaid. The Company shall promptly notify EFM of any change in the Company'’s address.

8. FEES: EFM will charge the Company for the service under this Agreement $ per month per Card.

9. MISCELLANEOUS: This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except
that Company may not assign, transfer or delegate any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of EFM. This Agreement
is governed by the substantive laws of the State of Missouri (determined without reference to conflict of law principles).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, EFM and the Company have executed this Maintenance Management and Fleet Rental Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

COMPANY: EFM: Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc.
Signature: Signature:
By: By:
Title: Title:
Address: Address:
Date Signed: , Date Signed:
Initials: EFM Company




—=enterprise

FLEET MANAGEMENT
e TR R RS URIDEERE PR G e TR SRR T

CONSIGNMENT AUCTION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by and between Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. a Missouri Corporation (hereinafter referred to as
“Enterprise”) and (hereinafter referred to as “CUSTOMER") on this day of
(hereinafter referred to as the “Execution Date”).

RECITALS
A. Enterprise is in the business of selling previous leased and rental vehicles at wholelsale auctions; and

B. The CUSTOMER is in the business of

C. The CUSTOMER and Enterprise wish to enter into an agreement whereby Enterprise will sell at wholesale auction, CUSTOMER's vehicles
set forth on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein, as supplemented from time to time (collectively, the “Vehicles”).

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties agree as follows:

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. Right to Sell: Enterprise shall have the non-exclusive right to sell any Vehicles consigned to Enterprise by a CUSTOMER within the
Geographic Territory.

2. Power of Attorney: CUSTOMER appoints Enterprise as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact to sign Vehicle titles on behalf of CUSTOMER
for transfer of same and hereby grant it power in any and all matters pertaining to the transfer of Vehicle titles and any papers necessary
thereto on behalf of CUSTOMER. The rights, powers and authorities of said attorney-in-fact granted in this instrument shall commence and
be in full force and effect on the Execution Date, and such rights, powers and authority shall remain in full force and effect thereafter until
terminated as set forth herein.

3. Assignments: Vehicle assignments may be issued to Enterprise by phone, fax, or electronically.

4. Service Fee: For each Vehicle sold, the CUSTOMER shall pay Enterprise a fee of $ (“Service Fee") plus towing at prevailing rates.
5. Sales Process: Enterprise shall use reasonable efforts sell each Vehicle. CUSTOMER may, at its discretion, place a Minimum Bid or Bid to

be Approved (BTBA) on any Vehicle by providing prior written notification to Enterprise.

6. Time for Payment:

(a) No later than ten (10) business days after the collection of funds for the sale of a Vehicle, Enterprise will remit to the CUSTOMER an
amount equal to the Vehicle sale price minus any seller fees, auction fees, Service Fees, towing costs, title service fees, enhancement fees and
any expenses incurred by Enterprise while selling Vehicle, regardless of whether the purchaser pays for the Vehicle.

(b) Enterprise’s obligations pursuant to Section 6(a) shall not apply to Vehicle sales involving mistakes or inadvertences in the sales
process where Enterprise reasonably believes that fairness to the buyer or seller justifies the cancellation or reversal of the sale. If Enterprise
has already remitted payment to CUSTOMER pursuant to Section 6(a) prior to the sale being reversed or cancelled, CUSTOMER agrees

to reimburse Enterprise said payment in full. Enterprise will then re-list the Vehicle and pay CUSTOMER in accordance with this Section

6. Examples of mistakes or inadvertences include, but are not limited, to Vehicles sold using inaccurate or incomplete vehicle or title
descriptions and bids entered erroneously.

7. Indemnification and Hold Harmless: Enterprise and CUSTOMER agree to indemnify, defend and hold each other and its parent, employees
and agents harmless to the extent any loss, damage, or liability arises from the negligence or willful misconduct of the other, its agents or
employees, and for its breach of any term of this Agreement. The parties' obligations under this section shall survive termination of this
Agreement.



8. Liens, Judgments, Titles and Defects: CUSTOMER shall defend, indemnify and hold Enterprise its parent, employees and agents harmless
from and against any and all claims, expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees), suits and demands arising out of, based upon, or resulting
from any judgments, liens or citations that were placed on the Vehicle, defects in the Vehicle's title, or mechanical or design defects in the Vehicle.

9. Odometer: Enterprise assumes no responsibility for the correctness of the odometer reading on any Vehicle and the CUSTOMER shall defend,
indemnify and hold Enterprise its parent, employees and agents harmless from and against any and all claims, expenses (including reasonable
attorney’s fees), suits and demands arising out of, based upon or resulting from inaccuracy of the odometer reading on any Vehicle or any
odometer statement prepared in connection with the sale of any Vehicle, unless such inaccuracy is caused by an employee, Enterprise, or officer
of Enterprise.

10. Bankruptcy: Subject to applicable law, in the event of the filing by CUSTOMER of a petition in bankruptcy or an involuntary assignment of its
assets for the benefit of creditors, Enterprise may accumulate sales proceeds from the sale ofall Vehicles and deduct seller fees, auction fees,
Service Fees, towing costs, title service fees, enhancement fees and any expenses incurred by Enterprise while selling Vehicle from said funds.
Enterprise will thereafter remit to CUSTOMER the net proceeds of said accumulated sales proceeds, if any.

11. Compliance with Laws: Enterprise shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, regulations, ordinances, and statutes, including those of
any state motor vehicle departments, department of insurance, and the Federal Odometer Act.

12. Insurance: CUSTOMER shall obtain and maintain in force at all times during the term of this Agreement and keep in place until each Vehicle is
sold and title is transferred on each Vehicle, automobile third party liability of $1,000,000 per occurrence and physical damage coverage on all

Vehicles. This insurance shall be written as a primary policy and not contributing with any insurance coverage or self-insurance applicable to
Enterprise.

13. Term: This agreement is effective on the Execution Date and shall continue until such time as either party shall notify the other party with thirty
(30) days prior written notice to terminate the Agreement with or without cause.

14. Modification: No modification, amendment or waiver of this Agreement or any of its provisions shall be binding unless in writing and duly
signed by the parties hereto.

15. Entire Agreement: This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties and supersedes all previous agreements, promises,
representations, understandings, and negotiations, whether written or oral, with respect to the subject matter hereto.

16. Liability Limit: In the event Enterprise is responsible for any damage to a Vehicle, Enterprise’s liability for damage to a Vehicle in its possession
shall be limited to the lesser of: (1) the actual cost to repair the damage to such vehicle suffered while in Enterprise’s possession; or (2) the
negative impact to the salvage value of such vehicle. Enterprise shall not be liable for any other damages to a Vehicle of any kind, including but not
limited to special, incidental, consequential or other damages.

17. Attorney’s Fees: In the event that a party hereto institutes any action or proceeding to enforce the provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing
party shall be entitled to receive from the losing party reasonable attorney's fees and costs for legal services rendered to the prevailing party.

18. Authorization: Each party represents and warrants to the other party that the person signing this Agreement on behalf of such party is duly
authorized to bind such party.

“ENTERPRISE” “CUSTOMER"
Signature: Signature:
Printed Name: Printed Name:
Title: Title:

Date Signed: , Date Signed:




| il el GOVERNMENT CREDIT APPLICATION

FLEET MANAGEMENT

Please complete all applicable items.

Company Name Credit Applicant Year Business Started
Street Address City State Zip
E-mail Phone # Fax #

Government Entity Type: Osee O County O City Oother:

Type of Business Duns Number.

Parent Company or Affiliates(Name & Address):

PRIMARY CONTACT INFORMATION

Name E-mail Phone #

Fleet Manager Address

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Are your books prepared by an outside Accountant? [ Yes OOnNo

Accountant Name Email Address Phone #

ENCLOSING WITH APPLICATION

Three years of Financial Statements (with footnotes) [ Audited [] Opinioned [ Internal
Published Annual Reports COvyes [No

Income Tax Returns (3 years) D Yes OnNe

Other Items Included:

Federal ID Number:

Fiscal Year End (Month):

CURRENT VEHICLE SUPPLIER

Principle Suppliers Phone # E-Mail Address Acct # # of Vehicles
Current Vehicle Suppliers Phone # E-Mail Address Acct # # of Vehicles
[ Purchasing [ Leasing O Finance

INSURANCE

Company Agent Policy # Exp. Date

Street Address City State Zip

Phone # Fax #




ACH AUTHORIZATION AGREEMENT

LESSEE INFORMATION

Company Name FEIN
Street Address City State Zip
Contact Name Phone # Fax #

Email Address

BANK INFORMATION

Bank Name Checking Account Only

Street Address City State Zip
Bank Contact Name Phone # Fax #

ABA / Routing Number: Account Number:

**PLEASE ATTACH A VOIDED CHECK FOR THE ACCOUNT LISTED ABOVE**

Upon approval of this Credit Application, | (we) hereby authorize Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc., hereinafter calied "EFM", to initiate, if necessary, credit
entries and adjustments for any debit entries in error, to my/our checking account indicated above and to further authorize the depository named above,
hereinafter called “DEPOSITORY", to debit and/or credit the same to such account. | (we) covenant and agree to instruct any and all banks or other financial
institution specified in this Credit Application and ACH authorization to process debits using the Autemated Clearing House funds-transfer system.

This transaction will be completed in accordance with the following provisions:

1. The withdrawal will occur on the 20th of each month. If the 20th of each month falls on a weekend, amounts will be withdrawn on the
next business day.

2. An electronic copy of the invoice and/or statement will be available on EFM's website (http./efmfleetaccess.efleets.com) by the 5th
business day of each month. The Lessee will be expected to review the invoice/statement prior to the 15th of each month. The Lessee
reserves the right to call EFM and dispute a charge by the 15th of the month. EFM will withdraw the entire invoice amount each month if
no charges have been disputed by the 15th of each month. Upon request to EFM, a hard copy of an invoice or statement will be mailed
to the lessee each month via the United States Postal Service.

3. For any amount owed by the Lessee to EFM that is not paid due to insufficient funds on the date the debit should occur, a $25 non-suffi-
cient funds transaction fee will be assessed. The transaction fee shall be paid by the Lessee to EFM on demand.

4, This authorization is to remain in full force and effect until EFM has received written notification from the Lessee of its termination in such
time and in such manner as to afford EFM and DEPOSITORY a reasonable opportunity to act on it. Cancellation will also occur if EFM
has sent the Lessee a ten day written notice for EFM's termination of the agreement. Cancellation requests for this agreement should
be forwarded to:

ARBilling@eflleets.com
L0 TN A 0 2 TIPS T o 1 v P i G AW e T <1 241 {11717 wa rmen P Pyt 378 | AT S T 1
STATEMENT OF POLICY AND PROCEDURES
Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. and affiliates will use the information provided in this for the purpose of fleet and rental related services/programs.
Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. reserves the right to return this application if all sections are not completed or determined misleading.
Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. will conduct future inquiries on an annual basis as part of the annual credit review process or as fleet size increases. and

reserves the right to ask for additional or updated financial information as the need warrants as part of the credit underwriting process.




AUTHORIZED SIGNERS FOR MOTOR VEHICLE LEASE(S)

RESOLVED, The undersigned hereby certifies (i) that he/she is the duly appointed (Title) for
(Entity legal name) hereafter known as “The Entity", (ii) that he/she is autharized
by The Entity to execute and deliver on behalf of The Entity to Enterprise Fleet Management, hereafter known as "Enterprise” (“Lessor") and the Master
Lease Agreement between Enterprise and the Entity ) the (“Lessee"), and (iii) that the following individuals are authorized and empowered on behalf of
and in the name of The Entity to execute and deliver to Enterprise Schedules to the Lease for individual motor vehicles, together with any other necessary
documents in connection with those Schedules:

RESOLVED FURTHER, that:

Print Name Title
Print Name Title
Print Name Title
Print Name Title
Print Name Title
Print Name Title
Bond Rating: Rating Agency: Federal |D#:

RESOLVED FURTHER, that EFM is authorized to act upon this authorization until written notice of its revocation is received by EFM.
| do hereby certify that the information contained in this Credit Application is accurate in all material aspects as required by law. Further, | do hereby certify that | am an

authorized representative of this Company and have been given the authority to sign this agreement on behalf of the Company.

Print Name Title
Signature Company Name
Date

For the purpose of seeking o secure credit from Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. (logether with its affiliates, successors, assigns and third party service providers, “EFM"), Credit Applicant (a) authorizes (i) EFM to run a credit report, investigate
and verity the information in this Credit Agreement, and/or obtain financial and/or credit information from any parson or antity with which Credit Applicant has or had financial dealings, including banks, lending instilutions and Irade or credit
referances, whether of nol such person or entily is identified in this Credil Application, which information may include financial stalements, tax returns, and banking records, (i) EF M to contacl any of Credil Applicant's current or former employers
or craditors to verily any infc i tained harain or ived in connaction with this Cradit Application if Credit Applicant is a sole proprigtor, and (i) any third party who may have relevant information to provide such information to EFM, (b)
will natify EFM if there is any change in name, address, or any material adverse change (1) in any of the information conlained in this Credit Application, (i} in Credit Applicant's financial condition, or (iil) in Credit Applicant's ability to perform their
respective obligations to EFM, and (c) represents and warrants that any and all information provided to EFM by Credit Applicant is true, correct and complete as of the date hereof. The lack of any notice of change in the representations and warranties
included in this Cradit Application shall be considerad a continuing statement that the information pravided in this Credit Application remains true, correct and complete,

As permitted by law, EFM may also release information about EFM's credit experience with Credit Applicant. Credit Applicant understands and agrees thal all reports and records developed by EFM or any third party agent in connection with the
foregoing investigations are the sole property of EFM and will not be provided to Credit Applicant unless otherwise required by applicable law or agreed to by EFM in writing.

The Equal Credit Opportunity Act prohibits creditors from discriminating against credit applicants on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, age (provided that Credit Applicant has the capacity to enter into a binding
conlract); because all or part of Credit Applicant's income derives from any public assistance program; or because Credit Applicant has in good faith exercised any right under the Consumer Credit Protection Act. If this credit application is denied,
Credit Applicant may have the right to a written statement of the specific reason(s) for the denial, To request to obtain the statement, Credit Applicant may contact EFM at: 600 Corporate Park Drive, ATTN: EFM Credit Department, St, Louis, MO
63105, within 60 days from the dale Credit Applicant is notifizd of the denial, If applicable, within 30 days of EFM's receipl of the request, EFM will send Credit Applicant a wrilten stalement specifying the reason(s) for the denal,

The person signing below personally reprasents and warrants to EFM thal he/she is authorized lo maka this application for credit on behall of Credit Applicant.

Please note that this Cradit Application is an application and does not commit or require EFM to extend any cradit whatsoaver to Credit Applicant. © 2018 Enterprise Floet Management, Inc. 110470 E701 0w P




—=enterprise

FLEET MANAGEMENT
ORI IR 725 L AR AT T e O ZC MRS 170 o MR TS e Sl -

MASTER EQUITY LEASE AGREEMENT

This Master Equity Lease Agreement is entered into this day of , 20 , by and between Enterprise FM Trust, a Delaware
statutory trust (“Lessor”), and the lessee whose name and address is set forth on the signature page below (“Lessee").

1. LEASE OF VEHICLES: Lessor hereby leases to Lessee and Lessee hereby leases from Lessor the vehicles (individually, a “Vehicle" and collectively, the
“Vehicles”) described in the schedules from time to time delivered by Lessor to Lessee as set forth below (“Schedule(s)") for the rentals and on the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable Schedule. References to this “Agreement” shall include this Master Equity Lease Agreement and the
various Schedules and addenda to this Master Equity Lease Agreement, each of which are incorporated herein as part of a single, unitary Agreement. Lessor will,
on or about the date of delivery of each Vehicle to Lessee, send Lessee a Schedule covering the Vehicle, which will include, among other things, a description of
the Vehicle, the lease term and the monthly rental and other payments due with respect to the Vehicle. The terms contained in each such Schedule will be binding
on Lessee unless Lessee objects in writing to such Schedule within ten (10) days after the date of delivery of the Vehicle covered by such Schedule. Lessor is
the sole legal owner of each Vehicle. This Agreement is a lease only and Lessee will have no right, title or interest in or to the Vehicles except for the use of the
Vehicles as described in this Agreement. This Agreement shall be treated as a true lease for federal and applicable state income tax purposes with Lessor having
all benefits of ownership of the Vehicles. It is understood and agreed that Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. or an affiliate thereof (together with any subservicer,
agent, successor or assign as servicer on behalf of Lessor, “Servicer") may administer this Agreement on behalf of Lessor and may perform the service functions
herein provided to be performed by Lessor.

2. TERM: The term of this Agreement (“Term") for each Vehicle begins on the date such Vehicle is delivered to Lessee (the “Delivery Date") and, unless
terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, continues for the “Lease Term” as described in the applicable Schedule.

3. RENT AND OTHER CHARGES:

(a) Lessee agrees to pay Lessor monthly rental and other payments according to the Schedules, Open-End (Equity) Lease Rate Quotes, and this Agreement.
The monthly payments will be in the amount listed as the “Total Monthly Rental Including Additional Services” on the applicable Schedule (with any portion of
such amount identified as a charge for maintenance services under Section 4 of the applicable Schedule being payable to Lessor as agent for Enterprise Fleet
Management, Inc.) and will be due and payable in advance on the first day of each month. Lessee agrees to pay Lessor interest charges, in connection with
the acquisition of a Vehicle, for the period between the date Lessor issues payment to acquire such Vehicle and the date the Vehicle is delivered to Lessee,
Such interest charges shall be included in each Schedule. If a Vehicle is delivered to Lessee on any day other than the first day of a month, monthly rental payments
will begin on the first day of the next month. In addition to the monthly rental payments, Lessee agrees to pay Lessor a pro-rated rental charge for the number of
days that the Delivery Date precedes the first monthly rental payment date. A portion of each monthly rental payment, being the amount designated as
“Depreciation Reserve” on the applicable Schedule, will be considered as a reserve for depreciation and will be credited against the Delivered Price of the Vehicle
for purposes of computing the Book Value of the Vehicle under Section 3(c). Lessee agrees to pay Lessor the “Total Initial Charges” set forth in each Schedule on
the due date of the first monthly rental payment under such Schedule. Lessee agrees to pay Lessor the “Service Charge Due at Lease Termination” set forth in each
Schedule at the end of the applicable Term (whether by reason of expiration, early termination or otherwise).

(b) In the event the Term for any Vehicle ends prior to the last day of the scheduled Term, whether as a result of a default by Lessee, a Casualty Occurrence or any other
reason, the rentals and management fees paid by Lessee will be recalculated in accordance with the rule of 78's and the adjusted amount will be payable by
Lessee to Lessor on the termination date.

(c) Lessee agrees to pay Lessor within thirty (30) days after the end of the Term for each Vehicle, additional rent equal to the excess, if any, of the Book Value
of such Vehicle over the greater of (i) the wholesale value of such Vehicle as determined by Lessor in good faith or (ii) except as provided below, twenty percent
(20%) of the Delivered Price of such Vehicle as set forth in the applicable Schedule. If the Book Value of such Vehicle is less than the greater of (i) the wholesale
value of such Vehicle as determined by Lessor in good faith or (ii) except as provided below, twenty percent (20%) of the Delivered Price of such Vehicle as set
forth in the applicable Schedule, Lessor agrees to pay such deficiency to Lessee as a terminal rental adjustment after the end of the applicable Term (subject to
Lessor's right to recoup any amounts Lessor would owe to Lessee under this Section 3(c) against any obligations of Lessee to Lessor under this Agreement).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) the Term for a Vehicle is greater than forty-eight (48) months (including any extension of the Term for such Vehicle), (i) the
mileage on a Vehicle at the end of the Term is greater than 15,000 miles per year on average (prorated on a daily basis) (i.e., if the mileage on a Vehicle with a Term
of thirty-six (36) months is greater than 45,000 miles) or (jii) in the sole judgment of Lessor, a Vehicle has been subject to damage or any abnormal or excessive
wear and tear, the calculations described in the two immediately preceding sentences shall be made without giving effect to clause (i) in each such sentence. The
“Book Value” of a Vehicle means the sum of (i) the “Delivered Price” of the Vehicle as set forth in the applicable Schedule minus (ii) the total Depreciation Reserve
paid by Lessee to Lessor with respect to such Vehicle plus (jii) all accrued and unpaid rent and/or other amounts owed by Lessee with respect to such Vehicle.

(d) Any security deposit of Lessee will be returned to Lessee at the end of the applicable Term, except that the deposit will first be applied to and recouped
against any losses and/or damages suffered by Lessor as a result of Lessee's breach of or default under this Agreement and/or to any other amounts then owed
by Lessee to Lessor.

(e) Any rental payment or other amount owed by Lessee to Lessor which is not paid within twenty (20) days after its due date will accrue interest, payable on

demand of Lessor, from the date due until paid in full at a rate per annum equal to the lesser of (i) Eighteen Percent (18%) per annum or (ii) the highest rate
permitted by applicable law (the "Default Rate").

Initials: EFM Customer




(f) If Lessee fails to pay any amount due under this Agreement or to comply with any of the covenants contained in this Agreement, Lessor, Servicer or any other
agent of Lessor may, at its option, pay such amounts or perform such covenants and all sums paid or incurred by Lessor in connection therewith will be repayable
by Lessee to Lessor upon demand together with interest thereon at the Default Rate.

(g) Lessee’s obligations to make all payments of rent and other amounts under this Agreement are absolute and unconditional and such payments shall be made
in immediately available funds without setoff, counterclaim or deduction of any kind. Lessee acknowledges and agrees that neither any Casualty Occurrence
to any Vehicle nor any defect, unfitness or lack of governmental approval in, of, or with respect to, any Vehicle regardless of the cause or consequence nor any
breach by Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. of any maintenance agreement between Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. and Lessee covering any Vehicle
regardless of the cause or consequence will relieve Lessee from the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the
payment of rent and other amounts under this Agreement.

(h) In the event Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor arranges for rental vehicle(s) with a subsidiary or affiliate of Enterprise Holdings, Inc., Lessee shall
be fully responsible for all obligations under any applicable rental agreement.

4. USE AND SURRENDER OF VEHICLES: Lessee agrees {o allow only duly authorized, licensed and insured drivers to use and operate the Vehicles. Lessee
agrees to comply with, and cause its drivers to comply with, all laws, statutes, rules, regulations and ordinances (including without limitation such federal, state
and local laws, statutes, rules, regulations and ordinances governing autonomous vehicles and automated driving systems and any parts, components and
products related thereto) and the provisions of all insurance policies affecting or covering the Vehicles or their use or operation. In connection with autonomous
vehicles and automated driving systems and the parts, components and products related thereto, Lessee agrees to comply with all applicable guidance and
professional standards issued, released or published by governmental and quasi-governmental agencies, including without limitation the federal guidance for
automated vehicles published by the Department of Transportation and the Federal Automated Vehicle Policy issued by the U.S. Department of Transportation
and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Lessee agrees to keep the Vehicles free of all liens, charges and encumbrances. Lessee agrees that
in no event will any Vehicle be used or operated for transporting hazardous substances or persons for hire, for any illegal purpose or to pull trailers that exceed
the manufacturer's trailer towing recommendations. Lessee agrees that no Vehicle is intended to be or will be utilized as a “school bus” as defined in the Code
of Federal Regulations or any applicable state or municipal statute or regulation. Lessee agrees not to remove any Vehicle from the continental United States
without first obtaining Lessor's written consent. At the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement with respect to each Vehicle, or upon demand by Lessor
made pursuant to Section 14, Lessee at its risk and expense agrees to return such Vehicle to Lessor at such place and by such reasonable means as may be
designated by Lessor. If for any reason Lessee fails to return any Vehicle to Lessor as and when required in accordance with this Section, Lessee agrees to pay
Lessor additional rent for such Vehicle at twice the normal pro-rated daily rent. Acceptance of such additional rent by Lessor will in no way limit Lessor's remedies
with respect to Lessee's failure to return any Vehicle as required hersunder.

5. COSTS, EXPENSES, FEES AND CHARGES: Lessee agrees to pay all costs, expenses, fees, charges, fines, tickets, penalties and taxes (other than federal
and state income taxes on the income of Lessor) incurred in connection with the titling, licensing, registration, delivery, purchase, sale, rental, and Lessee's use
or operation of the Vehicles. If Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor incurs any such costs or expenses, Lessee agrees to promptly reimburse Lessor for
the same.

6. LICENSE AND CHARGES: Each Vehicle will be titled, registered and licensed in the name designated by Lessor at Lessee’s expense. Certain other charges
relating to the acquisition of each Vehicle and paid or satisfied by Lessor have been capitalized in determining the monthly rental, treated as an initial charge or
otherwise charged to Lessee. Such charges have been determined without reduction for trade-in, exchange allowance or other credit attributable to any Lessor-
owned vehicle.

7. REGISTRATION PLATES, ETC.: Lessee agrees, at its expense, to obtain in the name designated by Lessor all registration plates and other plates, permits,
inspections and/or licenses required in connection with the Vehicles, except for the initial registration plates which Lessor will obtain at Lessee's expense. The
parties agree to cooperate and to furnish any and all information or documentation, which may be reasonably necessary for compliance with the provisions of this
Section or any federal, state or local law, rule, regulation or ordinance. Lessee agrees that it will not permit any Vehicle to be located in a state other than the state
in which such Vehicle is then titled for any continuous period of time that would require such Vehicle to become subject to the titling, licensing and/or registration
laws of such other state.

8. MAINTENANCE OF AND IMPROVEMENTS TO VEHICLES:

(a) Lessee agrees, at its expense, to (i) maintain the Vehicles in good condition, repair, maintenance and running order and in accordance with all manufacturer's
instructions and warranty requirements and all legal requirements and (ii) furnish all labor, materials, parts and other essentials required for the proper operation
and maintenance of the Vehicles. Lessee will not make (or cause to be made) any alterations, upgrades, upfitting, additions or improvements (collectively,
“Alterations”) to any Vehicle which (i) could impact or impair the “motor vehicle safety” (as defined by the Motor Vehicle Safety Act) of the Vehicle, or (i) could
impact, impair, void or render unenforceable the manufacturer's warranty, Without the prior written consent of Lessor, Lessee will not make (or cause to be made)
any Alterations to any Vehicle which (i) detracts, impairs, damages or aiters the Vehicle's nature, purpose, economic value, remaining useful life, functionality,
utility, software or controls, or (i) subjects the Vehicle or any part or component of such Vehicle to any lien, charge or encumbrance. Any Alterations of any nature
to a Vehicle are made at Lessee's sole cost, risk and liability, including without limitation, any such Alterations approved by, or made with the assistance or at
the direction of Lessor. Any replacement parts added to any Vehicle shall be in at least as good an operating condition as the prior part before the replacement
(assuming such part was, at the time of the replacement, in the condition required by the terms of this Agreement). Any Alterations to a Vehicle will become and
remain the property of Lessor and will be returned with such Vehicle upon such Vehicle's return pursuant to Section 4 and shall be free of any liens, charges
or encumbrances; provided, however, Lessor shall have the right at any time to require Lessee to remove any such Alteration at Lessee's sole cost, expense
and liability. In no event or instance shall the value of any Alterations be regarded as rent. Lessee and Lessor acknowledges and agrees that Lessor will not be
required to make any repairs, replacements or Alterations of any nature or description with respect to any Vehicle, to maintain or repair any Vehicle or to make any

Initials: EFM Customer




expenditure whatsoever in connection with any such Vehicle(s) or this Agreement.

(b) Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that if Section 4 of a Schedule includes a charge for maintenance, (i) the Vehicle(s) covered by such Schedule
are subject to a separate maintenance agreement between Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. and Lessee and (ii) Lessor shall have no liability or responsibility
for any failure of Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. to perform any of its obligations thereunder or to pay or reimburse Lessee for its payment of any costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the maintenance or repair of any such Vehicle(s).

9. SELECTION OF VEHICLES AND DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES:

(a) LESSEE ACCEPTANCE OF DELIVERY AND USE OF EACH VEHICLE WILL CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISH THAT SUCH VEHICLE IS OF A SIZE, DESIGN,
CAPACITY, TYPE AND MANUFACTURE SELECTED BY LESSEE AND THAT SUCH VEHICLE IS IN GOOD CONDITION AND REPAIR AND IS SATISFACTORY
INALL RESPECTS AND IS SUITABLE FOR LESSEE'S PURPOSE. LESSEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT LESSOR ISNOT AMANUFACTURER OF ANY VEHICLE
OR AN AGENT OF A MANUFACTURER OF ANY VEHICLE.

(b) LESSOR MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO ANY VEHICLE, INCLUDING,
WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR
PURPOSE, IT BEING AGREED THAT ALL SUCH RISKS ARE TO BE BORNE BY LESSEE. THE VEHICLES ARE LEASED “AS IS" “WITH ALL FAULTS." All
warranties made by any supplier, vendor and/or manufacturer of a Vehicle are hereby assigned by Lessor to Lessee for the applicable Term and Lessee's only
remedy, if any, is against the supplier, vendor or manufacturer of the Vehicle.

(c) None of Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor will be liable to Lessee for any liability, claim, loss, damage (direct, incidental or consequential) or
expense of any kind or nature, caused directly or indirectly, by any Vehicle or any inadequacy of any Vehicle for any purpose or any defect (latent or patent) in
any Vehicle or the use or maintenance of any Vehicle or any repair, servicing or adjustment of or to any Vehicle, or any delay in providing or failure to provide any
Vehicle, or any interruption or loss of service or use of any Vehicle, or any loss of business or any damage whatsoever and however caused. In addition, none of
Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor will have any liability to Lessee under this Agreement or under any order authorization form executed by Lessee if
Lessor is unable to locate or purchase a Vehicle ordered by Lessee or for any delay in delivery of any Vehicle ordered by Lessee,

(d) Inno event shall Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor or their respective affiliates be liable for consequential, indirect, incidental, special, exemplary,
punitive or enhanced damages, lost profits or revenues or diminution in value, arising out of or relating to this Agreement, including, without limitation, any breach
or performance of this Agreement, regardless of (i) whether such damages were foreseeable, (ii) whether or not Lessor, Servicer or any other agent of Lessor or
their respective affiliates were advised of the possibility of such damages and/or (jii) the legal or equitable theory (contract, tort or otherwise) upon which a claim,
action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, proceeding or litigation is based, and notwithstanding the failure of any agreed or other remedy of
its essential purpose.

10. RISK OF LOSS: Lessee assumes and agrees to bear the entire risk of loss of, theft of, damage to or destruction of any Vehicle from any cause whatsoever
(“Casualty Occurrence”). In the event of a Casualty Occurrence to a Vehicle, Lessee shall give Lessor prompt notice of the Casualty Occurrence and thereafter
will place the applicable Vehicle in good repair, condition and working order; provided, however, that if the applicable Vehicle is determined by Lessor to be lost,
stolen, destroyed or damaged beyond repair (a “Totaled Vehicle"), Lessee agrees to pay Lessor no later than the date thirty (30) days after the date of the Casualty
Occurrence the amounts owed under Sections 3(b) and 3(c) with respect to such Totaled Vehicle. Upon such payment, this Agreement will terminate with respect
to such Totaled Vehicle.

11. INSURANCE:

(a) Lessee agrees to purchase and maintain in force during the Term, insurance policies in at least the amounts listed below covering each Vehicle, to be written
by an insurance company or companies satisfactory to Lessor, insuring Lessee, Lessor and any other person or entity designated by Lessor against any damage,
claim, suit, action or liability, and that Lessor will suffer immediate and irreparable harm if Lessee fails to comply with such obligations:

(i) Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance (including Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist Coverage and No-Fault Protection where required by law) for the
limits listed below (Note - $2,000,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage per accident with No Deductible is required for each
Vehicle capable of transporting more than 8 passengers):

State of Vehicle Reqistration = Coverage

Connecticut, Massachusetts, Maine, New Hampshire, New Jersey, $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage
New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, and Vermont per accident - No Deductible

Florida $500,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage per
accident or $100,000 Bodily Injury Per Person Per Accident, $300,000
Per Accident and $50,000 Property Damage per accident (100/300/50)
- No Deductible

All Other States $300,000 Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage Per
Accident or $100,000 Bodily Injury Per Person Per Accident, $300,000
Per Accident and $50,000 Property Damage Per Accident (100/300/50)

Initials: EFM Customer, - No Deductible




(i) Physical Damage Insurance (Collision & Comprehensive): Actual cash value of the applicable Vehicle. Maximum deductible of $1,000 per accident - Collision
and $1,000 per accident - Comprehensive).

If the requirements of any governmental or regulatory agency exceed the minimums stated in this Agreement, Lessee must obtain and maintain the higher
insurance requirements. Lessee agrees that each required policy of insurance will by appropriate endorsement or otherwise name Lessor and any other person
or entity designated by Lessor as additional insureds and loss payees, as their respective interests may appear. Further, each such insurance policy must provide
the following: (i) that the same may not be cancelled, changed or modified until after the insurer has given to Lessor, Servicer and any other person or entity
designated by Lessor at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of such proposed cancellation, change or modification, (ii) that no act or default of Lessee or any
other person or entity shall affect the right of Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or assigns to recover under such
policy or policies of insurance in the event of any loss of or damage to any Vehicle and (jii) that the caverage is “primary coverage” for the protection of Lessee,
Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and their respective successors and assigns notwithstanding any other coverage carried by Lessee, Lessor, Servicer,
any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or assigns protecting against similar risks. Original certificates evidencing such coverage and
naming Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and any other person or entity designated by Lessor as additional insureds and loss payees shall be furnished
to Lessor prior to the Delivery Date, and annually thereafter and/or as reasonably requested by Lessor from time to time. In the event of default, Lessee hereby
appoints Lessor, Servicer and any other agent of Lessor as Lessee’s attorney-in-fact to receive payment of, to endorse all checks and other documents and to
take any other actions necessary to pursue insurance claims and recover payments if Lessee fails to do so. Any expense of Lessor, Servicer or any other agent
of Lessor in adjusting or collecting insurance shall be borne by Lessee.

Lessee, its drivers, servants and agents agree to cooperate fully with Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and any insurance carriers in the investigation,
defense and prosecution of all claims or suits arising from the use or operation of any Vehicle. If any claim is made or action commenced for death, personal injury
or property damage resulting from the ownership, maintenance, use or operation of any Vehicle, Lessee will promptly notify Lessor of such action or claim and
forward to Lessor a copy of every demand, notice, summons or other process received in connection with such claim or action.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 11(a) above: (i) if Section 4 of a Schedule includes a charge for physical damage waiver, Lessor agrees that (A)
Lessee will not be required to obtain or maintain the minimum physical damage insurance (collision and comprehensive) required under Section 11(a) for the
Vehicle(s) covered by such Schedule and (B) Lessor will assume the risk of physical damage (collision and comprehensive) to the Vehicle(s) covered by such
Schedule; provided, however, that such physical damage waiver shall not apply to, and Lessee shall be and remain liable and responsible for, damage to a
covered Vehicle caused by wear and tear or mechanical breakdown or failure, damage to or loss of any parts, accessories or components added to a covered
Vehicle by Lessee without the prior written consent of Lessor and/or damage to or loss of any property and/or personal effects contained in a covered Vehicle. In
the event of a Casualty Occurrence to a covered Vehicle, Lessor may, at its option, replace, rather than repair, the damaged Vehicle with an equivalent vehicle,
which replacement vehicle will then constitute the “Vehicle” for purposes of this Agreement; and (i) if Section 4 of a Schedule includes a charge for commercial
automobile liability enrollment, Lessor agrees that it will, at its expense, obtain for and on behalf of Lessee, by adding Lessee as an additional insured under a
commercial automobile liability insurance policy issued by an insurance company selected by Lessor, commercial automobile liability insurance satisfying the
minimum commercial automobile liability insurance required under Section 11(a) for the Vehicle(s) covered by such Schedule. Lessor may at any time during the
applicable Term terminate said obligation to provide physical damage waiver and/or commercial automobile liability enroliment and cancel such physical damage
waiver and/or commercial automobile liability enrollment upon giving Lessee at least ten (10) days prior written notice. Upon such cancellation, insurance in the
minimum amounts as set forth in 11(a) shall be obtained and maintained by Lessee at Lessee's expense. An adjustment will be made in monthly rental charges
payable by Lessee to reflect any such change and Lessee agrees to furnish Lessor with satisfactory proof of insurance coverage within ten (10) days after mailing
of the notice. In addition, Lessor may change the rates charged by Lessor under this Section 11(b) for physical damage waiver and/or commercial automobile
liability enroliment upon giving Lessee at least thirty (30) days prior written notice.

12. INDEMNITY: To the extent permitted by state law, Lessee agrees to defend and indemnify Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and their respective
successors and assigns from and against any and all losses, damages, liabilities, suits, claims, demands, costs and expenses (including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) which Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or assigns may incur by reason
of Lessee’s breach or violation of, or failure to observe or perform, any term, provision or covenant of this Agreement, or as a result of any loss, damage, theft or
destruction of any Vehicle or related to or arising out of or in connection with the use, operation or condition of any Vehicle. The provisions of this Section 12 shall
survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement. Nothing herein shall be deemed to affect the rights, privileges, and immunities of Lessee and the foregoing
indemnity provision is not intended to be a waiver of any sovereign immunity afforded to Lessee pursuant to the law.

13. INSPECTION OF VEHICLES; ODOMETER DISCLOSURE; FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: Lessee agrees to accomplish, at its expense, all inspections of the
Vehicles required by any governmental authority during the Term. Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and any of their respective successors or assigns will
have the right to inspect any Vehicle at any reasonable time(s) during the Term and for this purpose to enter into or upon any building or place where any Vehicle is
located. Lessee agrees to comply with all odometer disclosure laws, rules and regulations and to provide such written and signed disclosure information on such
forms and in such manner as directed by Lessor. Providing false information or failure to complete the odometer disclosure form as required by law may result
in fines and/or imprisonment. Lessee hereby agrees to promptly deliver to Lessor such financial statements and other financial information regarding Lessee as
Lessor may from time to time reasonably request.

14. DEFAULT; REMEDIES: The following shall constitute events of default (“Events of Default”) by Lessee under this Agreement: (a) if Lessee fails to pay when
due any rent or other amount due under this Agreement and any such failure shall remain unremedied for ten (10) days; (b) if Lessee fails to perform, keep or
observe any term, provision or covenant contained in Section 11 of this Agreement; (c) if Lessee fails to perform, keep or observe any other term, provision or
covenant contained in this Agreement and any such failure shall remain unremedied for thirty (30) days after written notice thereof is given by Lessor, Servicer or
any other agent of Lessor to Lessee; (d) any seizure or confiscation of any Vehicle or any other act (other than a Casualty Occurrence) otherwise rendering any
Vehicle unsuitable for use (as determined by Lessor); (e) if any present or future guaranty in favor of Lessor of all or any portion of the obligations of Lessee under
this Agreement shall at any time for any reason cease to be in full force and effect or shall be declared to be null and void by a court of competent jurisdiction, or

Initials: EFM Customer




if the validity or enforceability of any such guaranty shall be contested or denied by any guarantor, or if any guarantor shall deny that it, he or she has any further
liability or obligation under any such guaranty or if any guarantor shall fail to comply with or observe any of the terms, provisions or conditions contained in any
such guaranty; (f) the occurrence of a material adverse change in the financial condition, a going concern audit comment of Lessee or any guarantor, or if Lessee
admits that it cannot pay its debts as they become due, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, is the subject of a voluntary or involuntary petition for
bankruptcy, is adjudged insolvent or bankrupt, or a receiver or trustee is appointed for any portion of Lessee’s assets or property; (g) if more than one (1) payment
by Lessee to Lessor is returned by Lessee's bank for any reason within a twelve (12) month period; or (h) if Lessee or any guarantor is in default under or fails
to comply with any other present or future agreement with or in favor of Lessor, Servicer of Lessor, or any direct or indirect subsidiary of Servicer of Lessor,
Enterprise Holdings, Inc. or a subsidiary or affiliate of Enterprise Holdings, Inc.. For purposes of this Section 14, the term “guarantor” shall mean any present or
future guarantor of all or any portion of the obligations of Lessee under this Agreement.

Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, Lessor, without notice to Lessee, will have the right to exercise concurrently or separately (and without any election
of remedies being deemed made), the following remedies: (a) Lessor may demand and receive immediate possession of any or all of the Vehicles from Lessee,
without releasing Lessee from its obligations under this Agreement; if Lessee fails to surrender possession of the Vehicles to Lessor on default (or termination or
expiration of the Term), Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and any of Lessor's independent contractors shall have the right to enter upon any premises
where the Vehicles may be located and to remove and repossess the Vehicles; (b) Lessor may enforce performance by Lessee of its obligations under this
Agreement; (c) Lessor may recover damages and expenses sustained by Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or
assigns by reason of Lessee's default including, to the extent permitted by applicable law, all costs and expenses, including court costs and reasonable attorneys’
fees and expenses, incurred by Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor or any of their respective successors or assigns in attempting or effecting enforcement
of Lessor's rights under this Agreement (whether or not litigation is commenced) and/or in connection with bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings; (d) upon written
notice to Lessee, Lessor may terminate Lessee’s rights under this Agreement; (e) with respect to each Vehicle, Lessor may recover from Lessee all amounts owed
by Lessee under Sections 3(b) and 3(c) of this Agreement (and, if Lessor does not recover possession of a Vehicle, (i) the estimated wholesale value of such
Vehicle for purposes of Section 3(c) shall be deemed to be $0.00 and (ji) the calculations described in the first two sentences of Section 3(c) shall be made without
giving effect to clause (ii) in each such sentence); and/or (f) Lessor may exercise any other right or remedy which may be available to Lessor under the Uniform
Commercial Code, any other applicable law or in equity. A termination of this Agreement shall occur only upon written notice by Lessor to Lessee. Any termination
shall not affect Lessee’s obligation to pay all amounts due for periods prior to the effective date of such termination or Lessee's obligation to pay any indemnities
under this Agreement. All remedies of Lessor under this Agreement or at law or in equity are cumulative.

15. ASSIGNMENTS: Lessor may from time to time assign, pledge or transfer this Agreement and/or any or all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement
to any person or entity. Lessee agrees, upon notice of any such assignment, pledge or transfer of any amounts due or to become due to Lessor under this
Agreement to pay all such amounts to such assignee, pledgee or transferee. Any such assignee, pledgee or transferee of any rights or obligations of Lessor under
this Agreement will have all of the rights and obligations that have been assigned to it. Lessee’s rights and interest in and to the Vehicles are and will continue
at all times to be subject and subordinate in all respects to any assignment, pledge or transfer now or hereafter executed by Lessor with or in favor of any such
assignee, pledgee or transferee, provided that Lessee shall have the right of quiet enjoyment of the Vehicles so long as no Event of Default under this Agreement
has occurred and is continuing. Lessee acknowledges and agrees that the rights of any assignee, pledgee or transferee in and to any amounts payabie by the
Lessee under any provisions of this Agreement shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be subject to any abatement whatsoever, or to any defense,
setoff, counterclaim or recoupment whatsoever, whether by reason of any damage to or loss or destruction of any Vehicle or by reason of any defect in or failure of
title of the Lessor or interruption from whatsoever cause in the use, operation or possession of any Vehicle, or by reason of any indebtedness or liability howsoever
and whenever arising of the Lessor or any of its affiliates to the Lessee or to any other person or entity, or for any other reason.

Without the prior written consent of Lessor, Lessee may not assign, sublease, transfer or pledge this Agreement, any Vehicle, or any interest in this Agreement or
in and to any Vehicle, or permit its rights under this Agreement or any Vehicle to be subject to any lien, charge or encumbrance. Lessee's interest in this Agreement
is not assignable and cannot be assigned or transferred by operation of law. Lessee will not transfer or relinquish possession of any Vehicle (except for the sole
purpose of repair or service of such Vehicle) without the prior written consent of Lessor.

16. MISCELLANEOUS: This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties. This Agreement may only be amended or modified by an instrument
in writing executed by both parties. Lessor shall not by any act, delay, omission or otherwise be deemed to have waived any of its rights or remedies under this
Agreement and no waiver whatsoever shall be valid unless in writing and signed by Lessor and then only to the extent therein set forth. A waiver by Lessor of any
right or remedy under this Agreement on any one occasion shall not be construed as a bar to any right or remedy, which Lessor would otherwise have on any future
occasion. If any term or provision of this Agreement or any application of any such term or provision is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement
and any other application of such term or provision will not be affected thereby. Without Lessor's prior written consent, Lessee shall not use or include Lessor's,
Servicer's, any other agent of Lessor’'s names or trademarks orally or in writing in any media, customer lists or marketing materials. Giving of all notices under this
Agreement will be sufficient if mailed by certified mail to a party at its address set forth below or at such other address as such party may provide in writing from
time to time. Any such notice mailed to such address will be effective one (1) day after deposit in the United States mail, duly addressed, with certified mail, postage
prepaid. Lessee will promptly notify Lessor of any change in Lessee’s address. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts (including facsimile and
pdf counterparts), but the counterpart marked “ORIGINAL” by Lessor will be the original lease for purposes of applicable law. All of the representations, warranties,
covenants, agreements and obligations of each Lessee under this Agreement (if more than one) are joint and several.

17. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS; GOVERNING LAW: Subject to the provisions of Section 15, this Agreement will be binding upon Lessee and its heirs,
executors, personal representatives, successors and assigns, and will inure to the benefit of Lessor, Servicer, any other agent of Lessor and their respective
successors and assigns. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of Missouri (determined without
reference to conflict of law principles).

18. NON-PETITION: Each party hereto hereby covenants and agrees that, prior to the date which is one year and one day after payment in full of all indebtedness

Initials: EFM Customer,




of Lessor, it shall not institute against, or join any other person in instituting against, Lessor any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency or liquidation
proceedings or other similar proceeding under the laws of the United States or any state of the United States. The provisions of this Section 18 shall survive
termination of this Master Equity Lease Agreement.

19. NON-APPROPRIATION: Lessee’s funding of this Agreement shall be on a Fiscal Year basis and is subject to annual appropriations. Lessor acknowledges
that Lessee is a municipal corporation, is precluded by the County or State Constitution and other laws from entering into obligations that financially bind future
governing bodies, and that, therefore, nothing in this Agreement shall constitute an obligation of future legislative bodies of the County or State to appropriate
funds for purposes of this Agreement. Accordingly, the parties agree that the lease terms within this Agreement or any Schedules relating hereto are contingent
upon appropriation of funds. The parties further agree that should the County or State fail to appropriate such funds, the Lessor shall be paid all rentals due and
owing hereunder up until the actual day of termination. In addition, Lessor reserves the right to be paid for any reasonable damages. These reasonable damages
will be limited to the losses incurred by the Lessor for having to sell the vehicles on the open used car market prior to the end of the scheduled term (as determined
in Section 3 and Section 14 of this Agreement).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee have duly executed this Master Equity Lease Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

LESSOR: Enterprise FM Trust

LESSEE: By: Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. its attorney in fact
. Signature:
Signature:
By:
By: Y
Title:
Title:
Address:
Address:
) Date Signed: ,
Date Signed:
Initials: EFM Customer,




—-enterprise

FLEET MANAGEMENT
R A i X R i N S PN Y700 " BN U Y

FULL MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

This Full Maintenance Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into this day of , by Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc., a
Missouri corporation (“EFM”), and ("Lessee”).

WITNESSETH
1. LEASE. Reference is hereby made to that certain Master Lease Agreement dated as of the day of , 20__, by and between Enterprise FM

Trust, a Delaware statutory trust, as lessor (“Lessor”), and Lessee, as lessee (as the same may from time to time be amended, modified, extended, renewed,
supplemented or restated, the “Lease”). All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the respective meanings ascribed to
them in the Lease.

2. COVERED VEHICLES. This Agreement shall only apply to those vehicles leased by Lessor to Lessee pursuant to the Lease to the extent Section 4 of the
Schedule for such vehicle includes a charge for maintenance (the “Covered Vehicle(s)").

3. TERM AND TERMINATION. The term of this Agreement (“Term") for each Covered Vehicle shall begin on the Delivery Date of such Covered Vehicle and shall
continue until the last day of the “Term" (as defined in the Lease) for such Covered Vehicle unless earlier terminated as set forth below. Each of EFM and Lessee
shall each have the right to terminate this Agreement effective as of the last day of any calendar month with respect to any or all of the Covered Vehicles upon not
less than sixty (60) days prior written notice to the other party. The termination of this Agreement with respect to any or all of the Covered Vehicles shall not affect
any rights or obligations under this Agreement which shall have previously accrued or shall thereafter arise with respect to any occurrence prior to termination, and
such rights and obligations shall continue to be governed by the terms of this Agreement.

4. VEHICLE REPAIRS AND SERVICE. EFM agrees that, during the Term for the applicable Covered Vehicle and subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, it will pay for, or reimburse Lessee for its payment of, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the maintenance or repair of a Covered
Vehicle. This Agreement does not cover, and Lessee will remain responsible for and pay for, (a) fuel, (b) oil and other fluids between changes, (c) tire or brake
repair and replacement beyond what is allocated within the Lease Schedule, (d) washing, (e) repair of damage due to lack of maintenance or neglect by Lessee
between scheduled services (including, without limitation, failure to maintain fluid levels), (f) maintenance or repair of, or damage caused by, any alterations,
upgrades, upfitting, additions, improvements (collectively, “Alterations”) or unauthorized replacement parts added to a Covered Vehicle or of any after-market
components (this Agreement covers maintenance and repair only of the Covered Vehicles themselves and any factory-installed components and does not cover
maintenance or repair of chassis alterations, add-on bodies (including, without limitation, step vans), software or other equipment (including, without limitation,
lift gates, autonomous or automated vehicle equipment, components, parts or products, and PTO controls) which is installed or modified by a dealer, body shop,
upfitter or anyone else other than the manufacturer of the Covered Vehicle, (g) any service and/or damage resulting from, related to or arising out of (1) an
accident, a collision, theft, fire, freezing, vandalism, riot, explosion, other Acts of God, an object striking the Covered Vehicle, improper use of the Covered Vehicle
(including, without limitation, driving over curbs, overloading, racing or other competition) or (2) Lessee's failure to maintain or use the Covered Vehicle as required
by and in compliance with, (A) the Lease, (B) all laws, statutes, rules, regulations and ordinances (including without limitation such applicable federal, state and
local laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, guidance and professional standards governing autonomous vehicles and automated driving systems and any
parts, components and products related thereto) and (C) the provisions of all insurance policies affecting or covering the Covered Vehicles or their use or operation,
(h) roadside assistance or towing for routine vehicle maintenance purposes unless the vehicle is inoperable, (i) mobile services, (j) the cost of loaner or rental
vehicles beyond what is allocated within the Lease Schedule or (k) if the Covered Vehicle is a Vehicle with a manual transmission, such manual transmission clutch
adjustment or replacement. Whenever it is necessary to have a Covered Vehicle serviced, Lessee agrees to have the necessary work performed by an authorized
dealer of such Covered Vehicle or by a service facility acceptable to EFM. In every case, if the cost of such service will exceed $125.00, which may change from
time to time based on market conditions, Lessee or service provider must notify EFM and obtain EFM's authorization for such service and EFM's instructions as to
where such service shall be made and the extent of service to be obtained. Lessee agrees to furnish an invoice for all service to a Covered Vehicle, accompanied
by a copy of the shop or service order (odometer mileage must be shown on each shop or service order). EFM will not be obligated to pay for any unauthorized
charges or those exceeding $125.00, which may change from time to time based on market conditions, for one service on any Covered Vehicle unless Lessee

has complied with the above terms and conditions. EFM will not have any responsibility to pay for any services in excess of the services recommended by the
manufacturer, unless otherwise agreed to by EFM. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, (a) all service performed within one
hundred twenty (120) days prior to the last day of the scheduled “Term" (as defined in the Lease) for the applicable Covered Vehicle must be authorized by and
have the prior consent and approval of EFM and any service not so authorized will be the responsibility of and be paid for by Lessee and (b) EFM is not required to
provide or pay for any service to any Covered Vehicle beyond the contract mileage not to exceed 120,000 miles.

5. ENTERPRISE CARDS: EFM may, at its option, provide Lessee with an authorization card (the “"EFM Card"), which is an electronic card located on the Efleets
mobile app and the efleets.com client website, for use in authorizing the payment of charges incurred in connection with the maintenance of the Covered Vehicles.
Lessee agrees to be liable to EFM for, and upon receipt of a monthly or other statement from EFM, Lessee agrees to promptly pay to EFM, all charges made by

or for the account of Lessee with the EFM Card (other than any charges which are the responsibility of EFM under the terms of this Agreement). EFM reserves
the right to change the terms and conditions for the use of the EFM Card at any time. The EFM Card remains the property of EFM and EFM may revoke Lessee's
right to possess or use the EFM Card at any time. Upon the termination of this Agreement or upon the demand of EFM, Lessee shall immediately cease using or
accessing the EFM Card. The EFM Card is non-transferable.

Initials: EFM Lessee




6. PAYMENT TERMS. The amount of the monthly maintenance fee will be listed on the applicable Schedule and will be due and payable in advance on the first day
of each month. If the first day of the Term for a Covered Vehicle is other than the first day of a calendar month, Lessee will pay EFM, on the first day of the Term
for such Covered Vehicle, a pro-rated maintenance fee for the number of days that the Delivery Date precedes the first monthly maintenance fee payment date. Any
monthly maintenance fee or other amount owed by Lessee to EFM under this Agreement which is not paid within twenty (20) days after its due date will accrue
interest, payable upon demand of EFM, from the date due until paid in full at a rate per annum equal to the lesser of (i) Eighteen Percent (18%) per annum or (ii)
the highest rate allowed by applicable law. The monthly maintenance fee set forth on each applicable Schedule allows the number of miles per month as set forth
in such Schedule. Lessee agrees to pay EFM at the end of the applicable Term (whether by reason of termination of this Agreement or otherwise) an overmileage
maintenance fee for any miles in excess of this average amount per month at the rate set forth in the applicable Schedule. EFM may, at its option, permit Lessor, as
an agent for EFM, to bill and collect amounts due to EFM under this Agreement from Lessee on behalf of EFM.

7. NO WARRANTIES. Lessee acknowledges that EFM does not perform maintenance or repair services on the Covered Vehicles but rather EFM arranges for
maintenance and/or repair services on the Covered Vehicles to be performed by third parties. EFM MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WHATSOEVER
OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WHETHER ARISING BY COURSE OF DEALING, COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, USAGE OF TRADE OR OTHERWISE WITH
RESPECT TO ANY EQUIPMENT, PRODUCTS, REPAIRS OR SERVICES PROVIDED FOR UNDER THIS AGREEMENT BY THIRD PARTIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFICATIONS,
OPERATION, CONDITION, SUITABILITY, PERFORMANCE OR QUALITY. ANY DEFECT IN THE PERFORMANCE OF ANY PRODUCT, REPAIR OR SERVICE WILL NOT
RELIEVE LESSEE OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE PAYMENT TO EFM OF THE MONTHLY MAINTENANCE FEES AND OTHER
CHARGES DUE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.

In no event shall EFM or its agents or their respective affiliates be liable for consequential, indirect, incidental, special, exemplary, punitive or enhanced damages,
lost profits or revenues or diminution in value, arising out of or relating to this agreement, including, without limitation, any breach or performance of this
agreement, regardless of (i) whether such damages were foreseeable, (ii) whether or not EFM or its agents or their respective affiliates were advised of the
possibility of such damages and/or (iii) the legal or equitable theory (contract, tort or otherwise) upon which a claim, action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit,
arbitration, inquiry, proceeding or litigation is based, and notwithstanding the failure of any agreed or other remedy of its essential purpose.

8. LESSOR NOT A PARTY. Lessor is not a party to, and shall have no rights, obligations or duties under or in respect of, this Agreement.

9. NOTICES. Any notice or other communication under this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered in person, electronic mail or mailed postage prepaid

by registered or certified mail or sent by express overnight delivery service with a nationally recognized carrier, to the applicable party at its address set forth

on the signature page of this Agreement, or at such other address as any party hereto may designate as its address for communications under this Agreement
by notice so given. Any such notice or communication sent by mail will be effective and deemed received three (3) days after deposit in the United States mail,
duly addressed to the address for the Party set forth below, with registered or certified mail postage prepaid. Any such notice or communication sent by express
overnight delivery service with a nationally recognized carrier will be effective and deemed received one (1) day after deposit with such delivery service, duly
addressed, with delivery fees prepaid. The Lessee shall promptly notify EFM of any change in the Lessee’s address.

10.MISCELLANEQUS. This Agreement embodies the entire Agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof. Any provision of this Agreement
which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability
without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provisions in any other jurisdiction. This
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except that Lessee may not assign,
transfer or delegate any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of EFM. This Agreement shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of Missouri (without reference to conflict of law principles).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, EFM and Lessee have executed this Full Maintenance Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

LESSEE: EFM: Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc.
Signature: Signature:

By: By:

Title: Title:

Address: Address:

Date Signed: ; Date Signed:

Initials: EFM Lessee




—enterprise

FLEET MANAGEMENT
1 AP ORG-S DA NGOG NR, - 'iv' MABARARRART 57t a0

COMPANY OWNED VEHICLE SERVICE AGREEMENT

THIS COMPANY OWNED VEHICLE SERVICE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the ___ day of ,20___, byand
between Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. (“EFM”), a Missouri corporation, d/b/a Enterprise Fleet Management, and the company whose name and address is set
forth on the signature page below (“Company"). Each of EFM and the Company is a “Party," and collectively, the “Parties.”

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, EFM desires to offer to the Company certain services, including the Maintenance Program (as defined herein), the Maintenance Management Program
(as defined herein), and/or the License Administration Program (as defined herein, together with the Maintenance Program and the Maintenance Management
Program, collectively, the “Services,” with each of the Services sometimes being individually referred to herein as a “Service") for the Covered Vehicles (as defined
herein), and enter into this Agreement regarding same; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to obtain certain services from EFM, including the Maintenance Program, the Maintenance Management Program, and/or the
License Administration Program, for the Covered Vehicles, and enter into this Agreement regarding same.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants, promises, and conditions set forth herein, the Parties agree as follows:

1. COVERED VEHICLES: Upon request from the Company to EFM, and in exchange for consideration as set forth in this Agreement, EFM will provide all or certain
of the Services to the Company for certain vehicles owned by the Company (individually each is a “"Covered Vehicle," and collectively the “Covered Vehicles"),
which Covered Vehicles shall only be operated and/or used by an authorized representative of the Company or the Company's subsidiaries or affiliates. Each
Service requested to be provided by EFM to the Company shall be set forth on a schedule (individually each is a “Schedule,” and collectively the “Schedules”) to
this Agreement which shall identify the applicable Covered Vehicle and each requested Service for the Covered Vehicle. Each Covered Vehicle will have an
individual Schedule. EFM will send the Company a Schedule for each Covered Vehicle, which Schedule will include, but not necessarily be limited to, a description
of the Covered Vehicle, the Service or Services requested for the Covered Vehicle, and the recurring charges due from the Company to EFM with respect to each
Service requested by the Company. Should a Service being provided for a Covered Vehicle be terminated, EFM will provide to the Company a revised Schedule for
the Covered Vehicle which shall supersede the original Schedule for the Covered Vehicle. The Parties agree and acknowledge that each Schedule shall be subject
to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, expressly made a part of this Agreement, and deemed completely integrated herein. References to this Agreement
shall include all Schedules and exhibits to this Agreement, including, without limitation, the Packet (as defined herein) if applicable.

2. TERM AND TERMINATION: The term of this Agreement (the “Term") for each Covered Vehicle shall begin on the first day of the month listed on the applicable
Schedule and shall continue for month to month thereafter until terminated as set forth in this Agreement. EFM and the Company shall each have the right to
terminate this Agreement with respect to any Covered Vehicle effective as of the last day of any month upon not less than sixty (60) days prior written notice to the
other Party. The termination of this Agreement, with respect to any Covered Vehicle or the entirety of this Agreement, shall not affect any rights or obligations
under this Agreement which previously arose and were accrued or thereafter arise and accrue, and such rights and obligations shall continue to be governed by the
terms of this Agreement. In the event that the Term for each Covered Vehicle has been terminated, either Party may terminate this Agreement in its entirety upon
written notice to the other Party.

3. ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION: Whether at the request of EFM or another, the Company shall execute and deliver any and all additional documents and
instruments as well as do such further acts and things as may be necessary or required to carry out the intent and purpose of this Agreement, including executing
or delivering any document or instrument required and/or necessary to comply with any applicable federal, state or local law, rule, regulation or ordinance and/

or effect the provision of any Service, including any document or instrument necessary to appoint EFM as the Company's agent and provide EFM with power of
attorney on behalf of the Company as contemplated by this Agreement.

4. COVERED VEHICLE FEE: EFM will charge the Company, and the Company will pay EFM in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, a monthly fee, plus a
one time set-up fee per Covered Vehicle.

5. PAYMENT TERMS: Any amount owed by the Company to EFM under this Agreement which is not paid within twenty (20) days after its due date will accrue
interest, payable upon demand of EFM, at a rate per annum equal to the lesser of (a) Eighteen Percent (18%) per annum, or (b) the highest rate allowed by
applicable law, from the due date until paid in full.

6. BILLING: All fees, costs, expenses, fees, charges, fines, tickets, penalties, taxes, or any other amounts paid by EFM and for which the Company is responsible
and liable for under this Agreement will be submitted to the Company on an invoice. The Company agrees to and shall pay to EFM all invoiced amounts in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement. EFM is entitled to retain for its own account, without any benefit being provided to the Company, and treat as being
paid by EFM for purposes of this Agreement, any discounts that EFM receives from a third party which are based on the overall volume of business EFM provides
to such third party and not solely based upon the Company's business.

7. VARIOUS COSTS, EXPENSES, FEES, AND CHARGES. The Company agrees to pay all costs, expenses, fees, charges, fines, tickets, penalties, taxes (other

than federal and state income taxes on the income of EFM), or any other amounts incurred by EFM during the Term in connection with the Services and/or the
titling, licensing, registration, maintenance, delivery, purchase, sale, rental, use or operation of any Covered Vehicle. If EFM incurs any such costs, expenses, fees,
charges, fines, tickets, penalties, taxes, or other amounts, EFM will invoice the Company, and the Company agrees to and shall pay to EFM all invoiced amounts in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

Initials: EFM Customer




8. LICENSE ADMINISTRATION PROGRAM:

(a) EFM agrees to obtain all initial and renewal registration stickers and registration plates required by any state in which a Covered Vehicle is registered
where the presence of the Covered Vehicle is not required for issuance of initial and/or renewal registration stickers and registration plates. The Company agrees
that it shall not permit a Covered Vehicle to be located in a location, whether a state or country, other than the state in which the Covered Vehicle is then titled and/
or registered for any continuous period of time that would result in the Covered Vehicle being subject to the titling and/or registration laws, rules, regulations, or
ordinances of such other state or country without providing at least thirty (30) days advance written notice of same to EFM. The Company shall be responsible
and liable for any fees, costs, expenses, fees, charges, fines, tickets, penalties, taxes, or any other amounts which are incurred as a result of the Company's failure to
provide the advance written notice as set forth in this Section.

(b) Each Covered Vehicle shall be titled and licensed in the Company’s name at the Company’s expense. If necessary, EFM will assist the Company with such
titling and licensing. The Company shall be liable and responsible for any fees, costs, expenses, fees, charges, fines, tickets, penalties, taxes, or any other amounts
related to the titling and licensing of a Covered Vehicle.

(c) The services described in this Section are collectively referred to as the “License Administration Program.”
9. MAINTENANCE PROGRAM: If the Maintenance Program is requested by the Company and provided by EFM, the following terms shall apply:

(a) EFM will provide the Company with an authorization card (the "EFM Card”) for each Covered Vehicle, which EFM Card may or may not be a physical card,
for use in authorizing the payment of charges incurred in connection with the Maintenance Program for a Covered Vehicle. The Company agrees to be and shall be
liable to EFM for all charges made by or for the account of the Company with the EFM Card (other than any charges which are the responsibility of EFM under the
terms of this Agreement). EFM will invoice the Company for all such charges, and the Company agrees to and shall pay to EFM all invoiced amounts in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement. EFM reserves the right, and the Company agrees and acknowledges that EFM shall have the right, to change the terms and
conditions as set forth in this Agreement for the use of the EFM Card at any time without providing advance notice to the Company. The EFM Card is and shall
remain at all times the property of EFM, and EFM may revoke the Company's right to possess, access, or use the EFM Card at any time and for any reason. Upon
the termination of this Agreement or upon the demand of EFM, the Company shall immediately cease using or accessing and/or return the EFM Card to EFM. The
EFM Card is non-transferable.

(b) EFM agrees that, during the Term for a Covered Vehicle and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, EFM will pay for, or reimburse the
Company for its payment of, all reasonable and documented costs and expenses incurred in connection with the service, maintenance, or repair of the Covered
Vehicle to the extent same is included on the applicable Schedule for a Covered Vehicle. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties and set forth on the
Schedule for a Covered Vehicle, neither this Agreement nor the Maintenance Program cover and the Company shall remain solely liable and responsibie for and pay
for (a) fuel, (b) oil and other fluids between changes, (c) tire repair and replacement, (d) washing, (e) maintenance or repair of, or damage caused by, any alteration,
upgrade, upfitting, addition, improvement, or unauthorized replacement part added to a Covered Vehicle or by and of any after-market component (this Agreement
covers maintenance and repair only of the Covered Vehicles themselves and any factory-installed components and does not cover maintenance or repair of
chassis alterations, add-on bodies (including, without limitations, step vans), software, or other equipment (including, without limitation, lift gates, autonomous or
automated vehicle equipment, components, parts or products, and PTO controls) which is installed or modified by the Company, a dealer, a body shop, an upfitter,
or anyone else other than the manufacturer of the Covered Vehicle), (f) any service, maintenance, repair, and/or damage resulting from, due to, related to, or arising
out of (i) an accident, a collision, theft, fire, freezing, vandalism, riot, explosion, other acts of god, an object striking or colliding with a Covered Vehicle, improper
use or abuse of a Covered Vehicle (including, without limitation, driving over curbs, overloading, and racing or other competition), (ii) lack of maintenance,
service, or repair by the Company between scheduled services (including, without limitation, failure to maintain manufacturer recommended fluid levels); or
(iii) the Company's failure to maintain a Covered Vehicle as recommended by the manufacturer, or as required by and in compliance with (1) all laws, statutes,
rules, regulations and ordinances (including without limitation such applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, guidance
and professional standards governing autonomous vehicles and automated driving systems and any parts, components and products related thereto), and (2)
the provisions of all insurance policies affecting or covering the Covered Vehicle or its use or operation, (g) roadside assistance or towing for vehicle service,
maintenance, or repair purposes, (h) mobile services, (i) the cost of a loaner or rental vehicle, or (j) if the Covered Vehicle is a vehicle with a 1 ton classification or
greater, any (i) manual transmission clutch adjustment or replacement, (ii) brake adjustment or replacement or (jii) front axle alignment. Whenever it is necessary
to have a Covered Vehicle serviced, maintained or repaired, the Company agrees to have the necessary work performed by a service, maintenance, or repair facility
authorized in advance in writing by EFM. In every case, if the cost of any such service, maintenance, or repair is estimated to or does exceed fifty dollars ($50.00),
the Company shall notify EFM in advance of such service, maintenance, or repair being performed and obtain EFM’s authorization and approval for such service,
maintenance, or repair and abide by EFM's instructions as to where such service, maintenance, or repair shall be made and the extent of service, maintenance,
or repair to be obtained. The Company agrees to furnish EFM with an invoice for all service, maintenance, or repair to a Covered Vehicle, which invoice shall be
accompanied by a copy of the shop or service order (odometer mileage must be shown on each shop or service order). EFM shall not be, and is not, obligated to
pay for any unauthorized charges or those exceeding fifty dollars ($50.00) for any one service, maintenance, or repair on any Covered Vehicle unless the Company
has complied with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and followed all of EFM's instructions. EFM shall not, and does not, have any responsibility to pay
for any service, maintenance, or repair in excess of the service, maintenance, or repair recommended by the manufacturer, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by
EFM. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, EFM shall not be, and is not, required to provide or pay for any service, maintenance,
or repair to any Covered Vehicle after the odometer mileage reaches one hundred thousand (100,000) miles. The Maintenance Program for a Covered Vehicle
shall be automatically terminated and no longer provided by EFM to the Company after the odometer mileage for a Covered Vehicle reaches one hundred thousand
(100,000) miles.

(c) EFM will charge the Company, and the Company agrees to pay to EFM, a monthly maintenance fee for the Maintenance Program for each Covered Vehicle.
The monthly maintenance fee for each Covered Vehicle will be listed on the Schedule for the Covered Vehicle and will be due and payable by the Company to EFM
in advance on the first day of each month. The Company agrees to pay EFM at the end of the applicable Term (whether by reason of termination of this Agreement
or otherwise) an overmileage maintenance fee for any miles in excess of this average amount per month at the rate set forth in the applicable Schedule.

(d) The services described in this Section are collectively referred to as the “Maintenance Program.”

Initials: EFM Customer




10. MAINTENANCE MANAGEMENT PROGRAM: If the Maintenance Management Program is requested by the Company and provided by EFM, the following terms
shall apply:

(a) EFM will provide the Company with an EFM Card for each Covered Vehicle, which EFM Card may or may not be a physical card, for use in authorizing the
payment of charges incurred in connection with the Maintenance Management Program for a Covered Vehicle. The Company agrees to be and shall be liable to
EFM for all charges made by or for the account of the Company with the EFM Card (other than any charges which are the responsibility of EFM under the terms of
this Agreement). EFM will invoice the Company for all such charges, and the Company agrees to and shall pay to EFM all invoiced amounts in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement. EFM reserves the right, and the Company agrees and acknowledges that EFM shall have the right, to change the terms and conditions as
set forth in this Agreement for the use of the EFM Card at any time without providing advance notice to the Company. The EFM Card is and shall remain at all times
the property of EFM, and EFM may revoke the Company’s right to possess, access, or use the EFM Card at any time and for any reason. Upon the termination of
this Agreement or upon the demand of EFM, the Company shall immediately cease using or accessing and/or return the EFM Card to EFM. The EFM Card is non-
transferable.

(b) EFM will provide a driver information packet (the “Packet”) outlining the Maintenance Management Program. The Parties agree that the Maintenance
Management Program is subject to the terms and conditions of the Packet.

(c) EFM will provide purchase order control by telephone, electronic mail, or in writing authorizing charges for service, maintenance, or repairs for a Covered
Vehicle which are estimated to or do exceed seventy five dollars ($75.00), or such other amount as may be established by EFM, in its sole discretion. from time
to time under the Maintenance Management Program. All charges for service, maintenance, or repair for a Covered Vehicle under the Maintenance Management
Program will be invoiced to EFM. Invoices will be reviewed by EFM for accuracy, proper application of any applicable manufacturer's warranty, application of
potential discounts, and unnecessary, unauthorized repairs. After the invoices are audited, EFM shall pay for the amount of the audited invoice. EFM will provide to
the Company the audited invoices (the “Audited Invoices”).

(d) Notwithstanding the above, in the event the service, maintenance, or repair are the result of or are related to damage from an accident or other non-
maintenance related cause (including glass claims), these matters will be referred to EFM. If the Company prefers that EFM handle the damage service,
maintenance, or repair, the Company agrees to assign the administration of the matter to EFM. EFM will administer such claims in its discretion. The fees for this
administration service will be up to one hundred twenty five dollars ($125.00) per claim, and the Company agrees to pay EFM for those fees and reimburse EFM for
the damage service, maintenance, and repair as set forth in this Agreement (the “Administrative and Repair Fees"). If the Company desires the assistance of EFM
in recovering damage amounts from at fault third parties, a vehicle risk management agreement must be on file with EFM for the Company.

(e) The Company shall pay to EFM the amounts paid for by EFM under this Section and in conjunction with the Maintenance Management Program, including,
without limitation, as set forth on the Audited Invoices as well as for the Administrative and Repair Fees in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(f) If the Maintenance Management Program is requested by the Company and provided by EFM, the EFM Card will authorize the Company to arrange for a
rental vehicle at a discounted rate with a subsidiary or affiliate of Enterprise Holdings, Inc. (“EHI") for a maximum of two (2) days without prior authorization from
EFM. Extensions beyond two (2) days must be approved by EFM. The Company shall be fully responsible for all obligations under any rental agreement with a
subsidiary or affiliate of EHI pursuant to this Agreement. All drivers of a rental vehicle must be at least twenty one (21) years of age unless otherwise required by
law, hold a valid driver’s license, be an employee of the Company and authorized by the Company through established reservation procedures and meet all other
applicable requirements of the applicable subsidiary or affiliate of EHI. The Company will be provided a specific telephone number for use in arranging a rental
vehicle described in this Section.

The services described in this Section are collectively referred to as the "Maintenance Management Program.”

11. ODOMETER: Neither EFM nor EHI or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates assume responsibility for or shall be responsible or liable for the correctness of the
odometer reading on any Covered Vehicle unless that inaccuracy is caused by the action of EFM or EHI or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates.

12. INSURANCE: During the term of this Agreement, the Company shall pay for and maintain in full force and effect the insurance outlined herein for coverages
at not less than the prescribed minimum limits of liability, covering the Company, its authorized representatives, agents, employees, subsidiaries, affiliates, and

all subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or any for whose acts any of them may be liable: Automobile Liability Insurance
covering liability arising out of maintenance, use or operation by the Company, or its employee, authorized representative, or agent of any auto (owned, hired

and non-owned) with limits of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage. EFM and its subsidiaries and
affiliates are to be named as Additional Insureds. All insurance shall be written through companies having an A.M. Best's rating of at least A VII or with such other
companies as may reasonably be approved by EFM. All such liability insurance maintained by the Company shall include the condition that it is primary and that
any such insurance maintained by EFM or any other additional insured is excess and non-contributory. Certificates of Insurance evidencing such coverages shall
be furnished to EFM prior to commencement of this Agreement and at each subsequent policy renewal date. The Certificates shall provide for not less than thirty
(30) days written notice to EFM prior to policy cancellation, non-renewal or material change.

13. NO WARRANTY: The Company acknowledges that EFM does not perform maintenance, service, or repairs on any Covered Vehicle or any rental vehicle

and any maintenance, service, or repair is to be performed by third parties, EFM MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WHATSOEVER OF ANY KIND,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WHETHER ARISING BY COURSE OF DEALING, COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, USAGE OF TRADE OR OTHERWISE WITH RESPECT

TO PRODUCTS, MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS, OR SERVICES PROVIDED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT BY THIRD PARTIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO MERCHANTABILITY, COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFICATIONS, OPERATION, CONDITION, SUITABILITY,
PERFORMANCE, QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR USE. Any defect in the performance of any product, service, maintenance, or repair will not relieve the Company from
its obligations under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the payment to EFM of all amounts for which the Company is responsible and liable for under
this Agreement.

14. NOTICES: All notices of cancellation or termination or other communications under this Agreement shall be mailed postage prepaid by registered or certified
mail or sent by express overnight delivery service with a nationally recognized carrier, to the other Party at its address set forth on the signature page of this

Initials: EFM Customer




Agreement or at such other address as such party may provide in writing from time to time. Any such notice or communication sent by mail will be effective and
deemed received three (3) days after deposit in the United States mail, duly addressed to the address for the Party set forth below, with registered or certified mail
postage prepaid. Any such notice or communication sent by express overnight delivery service with a nationally recognized carrier will be effective and deemed
received one (1) day after deposit with such delivery service, duly addressed, with delivery fees prepaid. The Company shall promptly notify EFM of any change in
the Company's address.

15. MISCELLANEOUS:
(a) Other than as specifically set forth in this Agreement, this Agreement may be amended only by an agreement in writing signed by EFM and the Company.

(b) Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of
such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provisions in
any other jurisdiction.

(c) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except that the Company
may not assign, transfer or delegate any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of EFM.

(d) This Agreement is governed by the substantive laws of the State of Missouri (determined without reference to conflict of law principles).
(e) The headings in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement.

(f) This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which, taken together, shall
constitute one and the same instrument. This instrument shall be a valid and binding agreement when each Party has executed a counterpart. This Agreement
may be signed and transmitted electronically or by facsimile machine or telecopier; the signature of any person on an electronically or facsimile transmitted copy
hereof shall be considered an original signature and shall have the same binding effect as an original signature on an original document. The Parties agree that
the electronic signature of any Party is intended to authenticate this Agreement, shall be considered an original signature, and have the same force and effect as a
manual signature.

(g) Whenever the context of this Agreement requires, references to the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular, where
appropriate; and words denoting gender shall be construed to include the masculine and feminine, where appropriate.

(h) The Parties agree that all agreements and understandings between the Parties related to this Agreement are expressed and embodied herein; and in
entering into this Agreement the Parties have not relied upon any statement or representation other than those expressly set forth herein.

(i) Except as specifically set forth in this Agreement, the Company does not have any express or implied right or authority to assume or create any obligations
on behalf of or in the name of EFM or to bind EFM to any contract, agreement or undertaking with any third party.

(j) No waiver by any Party of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the Party so waiving.
Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, no failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any rights, remedy, power or privilege arising from this Agreement
shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege.

(k) All rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive, and the exercise by either Party of any right or remedy does not
preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies that may now or subsequently be available hereunder, at law, in equity, by statute, in any other agreement
between the Parties or otherwise.

16. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY:

(a) NONE OF EFM, ITS AGENTS, OR EFM'S OR ITS AGENT'S RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES OR SUBSIDIARIES WILL BE LIABLE TO THE COMPANY FOR ANY
LIABILITY, OBLIGATION, CLAIM, LOSS, PENALTY, FINE, COST, DAMAGE OR EXPENSE OF ANY KIND OR NATURE, CAUSED DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, BY
ANY COVERED VEHICLE OR RENTAL VEHICLE, OR ANY INADEQUACY OF ANY COVERED VEHICLE OR RENTAL VEHICLE FOR ANY PURPOSE OR ANY DEFECT
(LATENT OR PATENT) IN ANY COVERED VEHICLE OR RENTAL VEHICLE, OR THE USE OR MAINTENANCE OF ANY COVERED VEHICLE OR RENTAL VEHICLE, OR
ANY REPAIR, SERVICING OR ADJUSTMENT OF OR TO ANY COVERED VEHICLE OR RENTAL VEHICLE, OR ANY PROVISION OF ANY OF THE SERVICES FOR OR
TO ANY COVERED VEHICLE, OR ANY DELAY IN SCHEDULING, ARRANGING, REIMBURSING OR PAYING FOR SERVICING, MAINTENANCE OR REPAIR OF OR
TO ANY COVERED VEHICLE OR RENTAL VEHICLE, OR ANY INTERRUPTION OR LOSS OF SERVICE OR USE OF ANY COVERED VEHICLE OR RENTAL VEHICLE,
OR ANY LOSS OF BUSINESS OR ANY DAMAGE WHATSOEVER AND HOWEVER CAUSED, OR ANY ACTION TAKEN BY EFM UNDER A POWER OF ATTORNEY
PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT.

(b) IN NO EVENT SHALL EFM, ITS AGENTS OR EFM'S OR ITS AGENT'S RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES OR SUBSIDIARIES BE LIABLE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL,
INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY, PUNITIVE OR ENHANCED DAMAGES, LOST PROFITS OR REVENUES OR DIMINUTION IN VALUE, ARISING
OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY BREACH OR PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF
(1) WHETHER SUCH DAMAGES WERE FORESEEABLE, (I1) WHETHER OR NOT EFM, ITS AGENTS OR EFM'S OR ITS AGENT'SRESPECTIVE AFFILIATES WERE
ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, AND/OR (I11) THE LEGAL OR EQUITABLE THEORY (CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) UPON WHICH
A CLAIM, ACTION, CAUSE OF ACTION, DEMAND, LAWSUIT, ARBIRATION, INQUIRY, PROCEEDING OR LITIGATION IS BASED, AND NOTWITHSTANDING THE
FAILURE OF ANY AGREED OR OTHER REMEDY OF ITS ESSENTIAL PURPOSE.

17. INDEMNITY:

(a) The Company agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless EFM, its agents, and EFM’s or its Agent's respective affiliates, subsidiaries, successors and

Initials: EFM Customer




assigns (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties” with each being an “Indemnified Party”) from and against any and all losses, damages, liabilities, actions, suits,
claims, demands, penalties, fines, costs (including, without limitation, litigation costs) and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable fees of counsel and
experts) the Indemnified Parties may incur arising out of or resulting from any claim of a third party relating to: (a) the Company’s breach or violation of, or failure
to observe or perform, any term, provision or covenant of this Agreement, (b) any loss, bodily injury, death of any person, theft or destruction of or damage to real
or tangible personal property related to or arising out of the acts or omissions of the Company and its agents, employees, representatives, or drivers, including
without limitation, the use, operation or condition of any Covered Vehicle or rental vehicle, (c) negligence or more culpable act or omission of the Company or

any of its agents, employees, representatives, or drivers (including any recklessness or willful misconduct) in connection with the Company's performance under
this Agreement, (d) the Company's failure to comply with, and failure to cause its agents, employees, representatives, or drivers to comply with, all laws, statutes,
rules, regulations and ordinances (including without limitation such applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, guidance

and professional standards governing autonomous vehicles and automated driving systems and any parts, components and products related thereto) and the
provisions of all insurance policies affecting or covering any Covered Vehicle or rental vehicle or their use or operation, (e) any repair, maintenance, alteration,
upgrade, upfit, addition, replacement, or improvement to a Covered Vehicle, (f) any assertion of the infringement of patent, trade secret, trademark, copyright, or
other intellectual property rights of third parties, (g) the inaccuracy of the odometer reading on any Covered Vehicle or any odometer statement for any Covered
Vehicle, or (h) actions taken by any of the Indemnified Parties while acting as an agent of the Company or under a power of attorney given by the Company.

(b) In the event of a third party claim, suit, action or proceeding giving rise to the indemnification rights and obligations set forth in this Section, the
Indemnified Parties (or its designee) shall be entitled to control the defense of such claim, suit, action or proceeding and the Company shall indemnify the
Indemnified Parties from and against any fees, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable fees of counsel and experts) incurred by any of the
Indemnified Parties in defending such third party claim; provided that the Company shall have the right to participate in the defense of any third party claim with
counsel selected by it at the Company’s expense. The indemnifying party shall not enter into a settlement of any such claim, suit, action, or proceeding without the
applicable Indemnified Party’s prior consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(c) The provisions of this Section shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.

18. SIGNATORY WARRANTY: Each Party represents and warrants that it has read and fully understands all of the terms of this Agreement, that it has consulted
with its legal counsel and understands the legal ramifications of this Agreement, that it intends the respective Party on whose behalf he or she are is affixing his or
her signature to be legally bound, and he or she is fully and duly authorized to enter into and execute this Agreement on behalf of the respective Party on whose
behalf he or she is affixing his or her signature.

19. SCHEDULES, ADDENDA, AND EXHIBITS: All Schedules and exhibits referenced in and/or attached to this Agreement, including, without limitation, the
Packet if applicable, are hereby expressly made a part ofthis Agreement and deemed completely integrated herein.

20. POWER OF ATTORNEY: The Company does hereby constitute and appoint EFM as its agent and true and lawful attorney-in-fact (a) to execute, acknowledge,
and deliver on behalf of the Company all instruments, documents, agreements, or assurances as may be required for EFM to the provide to the Company the
License Administration Program, (b) to take any and all actions EFM deems necessary to effectuate the License Administration Program, and (c) do and perform
any and every act required, necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as
the Company might or could do if personally present, with full power of substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorney-in-fact,
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this power of attorney and the rights and powers herein granted. The Company ratifies and confirms all actions
that the attorneys-in-fact or any of them, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this power of attorney. This power of attorney, unless earlier revoked by the
Company, shall remain in effect until this Agreement is terminated in its entirety.

21. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES:
(a) The Company is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing in the jurisdiction of its incorporation, organization or formation, as applicable.

(b) The Company is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in every jurisdiction in which such qualification is required for purposes of
this Agreement.

(c) This Agreement, when executed by the Company (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by EFM) will be a legal, valid and binding obligation
of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms and conditions, except to the extent that enforcement thereof may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally.

(d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder do not and will not violate
or cause a breach of any other agreements or obligations to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound.

(e) The Company shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations in connection with the exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations
hereunder.

22. SURVIVAL: Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, Section 2 (Term and Termination), Section 3 (Additional Documentation),
Section 5 (Payment Terms), Section 6 (Billing), Section 7 (Various Costs, Expenses, Fees, and Charges), Section 11 (Odometer), Section 13 (No Warranty), Section
15 (Miscellaneous), Section 16 (Limitation of Liability), Section 17 (Indemnity), Section 20 (Power of Attorney), Section 21 (Representations and Warranties), and
Section 22 (Survival) shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement, as well as any other Section or provision that, in order to give proper effect to its
intent should survive such expiration or termination, shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.

Initials: EFM Customer




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, EFM and the Company have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

COMPANY: EFM: Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc.
By: By:
Name: Name:
Title: Title:
Address: Address:
Initials: EFM Customer




nterprise

FLEET MANAGEMENT
STERIGCTER DB 11 oo Wb st e v oA o RN . - vt L R o . i o e

EEMENT TO SELL R

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by and among the entities set forth on the attached Schedule 1 (hereinafter each an “Enterprise Entity”
and collectively the “Enterprise Entities”) and Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as “EFM”) (the “Enterprise
Entities” and “EFM" shall collectively be referred to as “Enterprise”) on the one hand and
(hereinafter referred to as “CUSTOMER"), on the other hand on this day of : (hereinafter referred to as
the “Execution Date").

RECITALS

A. Enterprise FM Trust and CUSTOMER have entered into an agreement whereby Customer has agreed to lease certain vehicles set forth
in the agreement between Customer and Enterprise FM Trust;

B. EFM is the servicer of the lease agreement between Enterprise FM Trust and Customer;
C. Enterprise, from time to time, sells vehicles at wholesale auctions and other outlets; and

D. The CUSTOMER and Enterprise wish to enter into an agreement whereby Enterprise will sell at wholesale, CUSTOMER’s vehicles set
forth on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein, as supplemented from time to time (collectively, the “Vehicles”).

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties agree as follows:

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. Right to Sell: Enterprise shall have the non-exclusive right to sell any Vehicles assigned to Enterprise by CUSTOMER, or under
consignment from Customer to Enterprise, as the case may be dependent upon applicable law in the jurisdiction in which the Vehicle is to
be sold. For Vehicles to be sold under assignment, Customer shall assign the title to Enterprise and deliver the assigned title to Enterprise
with the Vehicle. For Vehicles to be sold under consignment, Customer shall execute a consignment agreement granting Enterprise power
in any and all matters pertaining to the transfer of Vehicle titles and any papers necessary thereto on behalf of CUSTOMER.

2. Additional Documentation: Where necessary, CUSTOMER shall execute any and all additional documentation, required to effectuate
the sale of Vehicle(s).

3. Service Fee: For each Vehicle sold, the CUSTOMER shall pay Enterprise an administrative fee of the lesser of $ or the
maximum permitted by law (“Service Fee”).

4. Sales Process: Enterprise shall use reasonable efforts in its sole discretion to sell each Vehicle. CUSTOMER may, at its discretion,
place a Minimum Bid or Bid to be Approved (BTBA) on any Vehicle by providing prior written notification to Enterprise. Enterprise
shall have full discretion to accept any bid at or above the designated minimum bid or BTBA. Absent any such minimum bid or BTBA,
Enterprise shall have full discretion to accept any bid on a Vehicle.

5. Time for Payment:

(a) No later than twenty-one (21) business days after the collection of funds by Enterprise for the sale of a Vehicle, Enterprise will remit
to the CUSTOMER an amount equal to the Vehicle sale price minus any seller fees, auction fees, Service Fees, towing costs, title service
fees, enhancement fees and any expenses incurred by Enterprise while selling Vehicle, regardless of whether the purchaser pays for the
Vehicle.

(b) Enterprise’s obligations pursuant to Section 5(a) shall not apply to Vehicle sales involving mistakes or inadvertences in the sales
process where Enterprise reasonably believes in its sole discretion that fairness to the buyer or seller justifies the cancellation or reversal
of the sale. If Enterprise has already remitted payment to CUSTOMER pursuant to Section 5(a) prior to the sale being reversed or
cancelled, CUSTOMER agrees to reimburse Enterprise said payment in full. Enterprise will then re-list the Vehicle and pay CUSTOMER in
accordance with this Section 5. Examples of mistakes or inadvertences include, but are not limited, to Vehicles sold using inaccurate or
incomplete vehicle or title descriptions and bids entered erroneously.



6. Indemnification and Hold Harmless: Except as otherwise provided herein, CUSTOMER agrees to indemnify, defend and hold EFM and each
Enterprise Entity and their parents and affiliated entities, employees and agents harmless to the extent any loss, damage, or liability arises from
EFM or any Enterprise Entity’s use or operation of a vehicle and for the negligence or willful misconduct of Customer, its agents or employees, and
for its breach of any term of this Agreement. The parties’ obligations under this section shall survive termination of this Agreement.

7. Risk of Loss: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereunder, CUSTOMER shall assume all risk of loss for damage to or loss of any
Vehicle or any part or accessory regardless of fault or negligence of CUSTOMER, Enterprise, EFM or any other person or entity or act of God.

8. Liens, Judgments. Titles and Defects: CUSTOMER represents and warrants it holds full legal title to each such Vehicle, title to each such
Vehicle is clean and not subject to being branded for any reason, or requires any form of additional disclosure to a purchaser and that there are no
open recalls on each such Vehicle. CUSTOMER shall defend, indemnify and hold Enterprise, EFM, their parents, employees and agents harmless
from and against any and all claims, expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees), suits and demands arising out of, based upon, or resulting
from any judgments, liens or citations that were placed on the Vehicle, defects in the Vehicle's title, or mechanical or design defects in the Vehicle.

9. QOdometer: Neither EFM nor Enterprise assume responsibility for the correctness of the odometer reading on any Vehicle and the CUSTOMER
shall defend, indemnify and hold EFM, Enterprise, their parents, employees and agents harmless from and against any and all claims, expenses
(including reasonable attorney's fees), suits and demands arising out of, based upon or resulting from inaccuracy of the odometer reading on any
Vehicle or any odometer statement prepared in connection with the sale of any Vehicle, unless such inaccuracy is caused by EFM, Enterprise, their
employees or officers.

10. Bankruptey: Subject to applicable law, in the event of the filing by CUSTOMER of a petition in bankruptcy or an involuntary assignment of its
assets for the benefit of creditors, EFM or Enterprise may accumulate sales proceeds from the sale of all Vehicles and deduct seller fees, auction
fees, Service Fees, towing costs, title service fees, enhancement fees and any expenses incurred by EFM or Enterprise while selling Vehicle from
said funds. EFM or Enterprise will thereafter remit to CUSTOMER the net proceeds of said accumulated sales proceeds, if any.

11. Compliance with Laws: EFM, Enterprise and CUSTOMER shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, regulations, ordinances, and
statutes, including those of any state motor vehicle departments, department of insurance, and the Federal Odometer Act.

12. Insurance: CUSTOMER shall maintain and provide proof of Automobile Liability Insurance until the later of title transfer to purchaser of
Vehicle or transfer of sales proceeds to Customer covering liability arising out of maintenance, use or operation of any Vehicle (owned, hired and
non-owned) under this Agreement, with limits of not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence for bodily injury and property
damage. EFM, Enterprise, and their subsidiaries and affiliates are to be named as Additional Insureds. This insurance shall be written as a primary
policy and not contributing with any insurance coverage or self-insurance or other means of owner’s financial responsibility applicable to EFM or
Enterprise. CUSTOMER must waive and must require that its insurer waive its right of subrogation against EFM and Enterprise and their affiliates,
employees, successors and permitted assigns on account of any and all claims CUSTOMER may have against EFM or Enterprise with respect to
insurance actually carried or required to be carried pursuant to this Agreement.

13. Term: This agreement is effective on the Execution Date and shall continue until such time as either party shall notify the other party with thirty
(30) days prior written notice to terminate the Agreement with or without cause.

14. Modification: No modification, amendment or waiver of this Agreement or any of its provisions shall be binding unless in writing and duly
signed by the parties hereto.

15. Entire Agreement: This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties and supersedes all previous agreements, promises,
representations, understandings, and negotiations, whether written or oral, with respect to the subject matter hereto.

16. Liability Limit: EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT A PARTY HERETO BECOMES LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES OF THE TYPES DESCRIBED BELOW TO A
THIRD PARTY AS A RESULT OF A THIRD PARTY CLAIM AND SUCH PARTY IS ENTITLED TO INDEMNIFICATION WITH RESPECT THERETO UNDER
THE PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT, IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY HEREUNDER BE LIABLE TO OTHER PARTY FOR ANY SPECIAL,
INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY, OR INDIRECT DAMAGES (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOSS OF GOODWILL,
LOSS OF PROFITS OR REVENUES, LOSS OF SAVINGS AND/OR INTERRUPTIONS OF BUSINESS), EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF
THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

17. Attorney's Fees: In the event that a party hereto institutes any action or proceeding to enforce the provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing
party shall be entitled to receive from the losing party reasonable attorney's fees and costs for legal services rendered to the prevailing party.




18. Authorization: Each party represents and warrants to the other party that the person signing this Agreement on behalf of such party is duly

authorized to bind such party.

19. Independent Contractor: EFM and Enterprise shall perform the services hereunder as an independent contractor of Customer and no term of
this Agreement shall be deemed or construed to render CUSTOMER and EFM or Enterprise as joint venturers or partners.

20. Unsold Vehicles: Should such Vehicle not sell, Customer shall pick up Vehicle within five (5) business days of being provided notice that the
Vehicle has not been sold and, for Vehicles assigned to Enterprise by Customer, Enterprise shall assign title back to CUSTOMER.

“ENTERPRISE"

Signature:

Printed Name:

Title:

Date Signed:

Schedule 1

Enterprise Leasing Company of STL, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Georgia, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Florida, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of KS LLC

EAN Holdings, LLC

Enterprise Leasing Company of Orlando, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Indianapolis, LLC
Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of Boston, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Denver, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Chicago, LLC
Enterprise RAC Company of Maryland, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Philadelphia, LLC
Enterprise RAC Company of Baltimore, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Minnesota, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Detroit, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Co of Norfolk/ Richmond, LLC
Enterprise Rent-A-Car Co of San Francisco, LLC
ELRAC, LLC

SNORAC, LLC

“CUSTOMER”

Signature:

Printed Name:

Title:

Date Signed:

Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of Sacramento, LLC
Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of Los Angeles, LLC
Enterprise RAC Company of Cincinnati, LLC
CLERAC, LLC

Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of Pittsburgh, LLC
Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of Wisconsin, LLC
Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of UT, LLC
CAMRAC, LLC

Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of Rhode Island, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company of Phoenix, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company- Southeast, LLC
Enterprise Leasing Company- West, LLC

Enterprise Leasing Company- South Central, LLC
PENRAC, LLC

Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of KY, LLC
Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company - Midwest, LLC
Enterprise RAC Company of Montana/Wyoming, LLC




—enterprise

FLEET MANAGEMENT

TELEMATICS SERVICES AGREEMENT

As of this day of , 20 , (the “Effective Date") the parties below have agreed to the following Telematics Services Agreement (the “Agreement”),
to be effective upon the later of the Effective Date of this Agreement and the effective dates of the following agreement(s) between the parties.

[select any or all that apply]

(1)) Master Equity Lease Agreement (with schedules), dated , 20

() Master Walkaway Lease Agreement (with schedules), dated 20

WHEREAS, Enterprise Fleet Management, Inc. (“EFM") offers in-vehicle Telematics Device(s) (as defined below) from select partners and EFM is willing to make the
Telematics Device available for purchase, installation and use by Customer, as defined below, consistent with the terms of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the undersigned (the “Customer") desires to purchase, have installed and use the Telematics Device in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;

WHEREAS, in connection with the Telematics Device, Customer will have to obtain wireless services and software services from third party service providers other
than EFM; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, and for such other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which
is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree to the following.

1. Telematics Device Acknowledgement and Release. The Telematics Device(s) shall mean any systems, hardware, software and/or other components and services that
enable the collection, generation and/or transmission of information about the condition and/or operation of the Vehicle (as defined below), driving activities or actions
of the Vehicle driver, Vehicle locations traveled and mileage driven and/or other Vehicle mechanical and operational data (the “Telematics Data" or "Data”). Customer
acknowledges that the functionality of Telematics Devices and types of Data generated or available may change. By its signature below, Customer acknowledges that
the Telematic Device may include systems which utilize cellular telephone and/or radio signals to transmit Data and communication and, therefore, privacy of such Data
cannot be guaranteed and is specifically disclaimed as a condition of this Agreement and as a condition to receiving the Telematics Device. CUSTOMER RELEASES
EFM AND ITS PARENT COMPANY AND AFFILIATES, THE OPERATOR OF THE TELEMATICS SYSTEM, THE APPLICABLE SOFTWARE PROVIDER(S), THE WIRELESS
CARRIER(S) AND OTHER SUPPLIERS OF COMPONENTS AND/OR SERVICES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE EMPLOYEES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND AGENTS FROM
ANY DAMAGE (INCLUDING INCIDENTAL AND/OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES) TO PERSONS (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION CUSTOMER AND ANY DRIVER OR
PASSENGER OF THE VEHICLE) OR PROPERTY ARISING FROM (1) THE INSTALLATION AND USE OF THE TELEMATICS DEVICE AND/OR (ll) ANY FAILURE OF THE
TELEMATICS DEVICE TO OPERATE PROPERLY. Third party service providers are not agents or employees of EFM, and EFM shall have no liability or responsibility with
respect to the acts or omissions of those parties.

2. Use, Access, Ownership and Storage of Telematics Data. Customer acknowledges that the Telematics Data may be collected, generated and transmitted and that
Customer shall be entitled to access, use and disclose such Data in its sole discretion. Customer shall be considered the owner of all such Data. Customer retains
ultimate and sole responsibility with regard to (i) the selection of categories of Data and establishment of parameters and criteria Customer wishes to receive through its
utilization of a Telematics Device, (ii) the types of reports Customer wishes to receive based on the categories of Data and criteria and parameters Customer has selected,
and (iii) the monitoring, usage and disclosure of such Data. By way of example, EFM may provide Customer a driver safety scorecard based on categories of Data and
safety criteria and an overall scoring methodology selected by Customer; EFM will provide Customer reports strictly based on Customer’s criteria and Customer will be
solely responsibie for interpreting and drawing conclusions from the reports, including whether, based on Customer’s criteria, a driver is actually a safe driver or not, and
Customer will be solely responsible for deciding what action, if any, should be taken regarding any particular drivers.

EFM's responsibility to Customer with respect to the Data shall be limited as follows: (i) to arrange for the storage of the Data, which may be stored in EFM’s environment,
an EFM affiliate's environment and/or in an unaffiliated third party subcontractor’s environment; (ii) to provide access to the Data to Customer; and (iii) to provide reports
to the Customer solely based on categories of Data and parameters identified and selected by Customer.

Customer agrees that EFM and its parent company and affiliates may:

(A)  Collect, access, use and/or disclose the Data for the following purposes: (a) to provide services to Customer; (b) to provide or offer additional products and
services to Customer; (c) to check, maintain, diagnose, update or repair Customer’s Vehicles; (d) to assist or support Customer with managing its vehicle fleet
(e) to comply with any other request from Customer; and/or (f) to disclose the Data to a third party as is necessary to accomplish (a) through (e). If additional
services are required, the parties may need to enter into a separate agreement;

(B)  Collect, access, use and/or disclose the Data to comply with the request or order of a governmental or law enforcement authority; and
(C)  Collect, access, use and/or disclose aggregated and anonymized Data for any purposes.

For clarity, no access and/or use of the Data by EFM or its parent company or affiliates shall impose on EFM, its parent company or affiliates any responsibility to monitor
the Data or Customer’s drivers and/or fleet for any purpose, including without limitation, for safety purposes, and Customer hereby releases and holds harmless EFM
from any liability, claims or damages relating thereto. For purposes hereof, “monitor” means the process of reviewing, checking and/or evaluating the Data, whether over
a period of time, as part of a regular review or otherwise.




3. Compliance with Privacy Laws; Notices and Consents. Customer agrees to comply with any and all federal, state and local laws, rules, and regulations pertaining to
the collection, storage, protection, sharing and use of, and access to, the Telematics Data (“Laws"). Customer will also (a) provide notice to employees/drivers of a Vehicle
equipped with a Telematics Device that such Vehicle is so equipped, resulting in the collection, use, sharing and storage of Data, and that such collection, use, sharing
and/or storage may be undertaken by Customer, EFM or a third party; and (b) obtain driver consent to the collection, use, sharing and storage of such Data as described
in this Agreement.

4. Vehicles. This Agreement shall only apply to those vehicles (i) leased to Customer by EFM or an affiliate of EFM in which EFM is servicer under such lease or (ii)
owned by Customer, provided that Customer has a valid Master Walkaway or Equity Lease Agreement (with schedules) in force with EFM or an affiliate of EFM ((i) or
(i), a “Vehicle").

5. Purchase, Activation and Warranty. Customer shall pay EFM the standard price as set by EFM for each Telematics Device. Warranty terms and other terms and
conditions shall be those as provided by the hardware and equipment manufacturer(s) and software licensor(s) at the time of installation. Customer acknowledges
that EFM does not provide the software or hardware for the telematics services on the Vehicles, but rather EFM arranges for provision of the same by third parties. EFM
MAKES NO, AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS EVERY, REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO ANY PRODUCTS,
REPAIRS OR SERVICES (INCLUDING ANY TELEMATICS SERVICES) PROVIDED FOR UNDER THIS AGREEMENT BY EFM OR THIRD PARTIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-INFRINGEMENT, COMPLIANCE
WITH SPECIFICATIONS, AVAILABILITY, OPERATION, CONDITION, SUITABILITY, PERFORMANCE OR QUALITY. FURTHERMORE, EFM MAKES NO, AND EXPRESSLY
DISCLAIMS EVERY, REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, THAT THE TELEMATICS DEVICE(S) WILL NOT BE SUBJECT TO
EAVESDROPPERS, HACKERS, ATTACKS, VIRUS, INTERCEPTORS OR ANY SIMILAR THREAT. ANY DEFECT IN THE PERFORMANCE OF ANY PRODUCT, REPAIR OR
SERVICE WILL NOT RELIEVE CUSTOMER OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE PAYMENT TO EFM OF ANY CHARGES DUE UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND THEIR AFFILIATES.

6. Training. The third party service provider shall provide Customer and its employees with training and support materials on the functionality and use of the Telematics
Device(s). Atall times, Customer shall utilize commercially reasonable efforts to adhere to the training and maintain the Telematics Device(s) in a good and safe operating
condition (normal wear and tear excepted).

7. Wireless Service Provider and Agreement; Software Agreement; Termination. Customer shall execute a Wireless Service Agreement with a telecommunications
carrier identified by EFM as a condition to the purchase and installation of the Telematics Devices. Customer shall also execute an on-line End User Software Agreement
with a third party vendor identified by EFM that licenses to Customer the software necessary to support the use of the Telematics Devices. Customer acknowledges
and agrees that EFM will have no liability or obligation with respect to any third party vendor or telecommunications carrier or any services provided by either, including,
without limitation, any costs or expenses relating to any delay, failure or disruption of wireless services or software. Customer acknowledges that the Wireless Services
Agreement and/or End User Software Agreement will provide for an ongoing, regular monthly charge, payable by Customer, for the use of the wireless services and
software associated with the Telematics Devices by Customer. EFM shall not be a party to such Wireless Services Agreement or End User Software Agreements but
termination of the same (for any reason) shall terminate this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed in writing by EFM. Termination of the agreement(s), as described
above, with respect to the Vehicles and termination of this Agreement may terminate Customer’s Wireless Services Agreement. Early termination of the Wireless Services
Agreement may require Customer to pay an early termination fee or other charges. Customer agrees to provide EFM with prompt and complete notice of any termination
of its Wireless Service Agreement and any other modifications to the same. This Agreement will terminate upon the earlier to occur of (i) written notice by EFM to
Customer, or (i) upon expiration or termination of all leases between Customer and EFM or an affiliate of EFM.

8. Indemnification. Customer warrants, represents, and agrees to defend, indemnify and hold EFM, its parent company, and its affiliates and their employees, officers,
directors and managers (“EFM Indemnified Persons") harmless from and against any and all losses, damages, liabilities, suits, claims, demands, causes of action,
government investigations, fines, penalties, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and expenses) (“Losses”) which an EFM Indemnified
Person(s) may incur by reason of the following: (a) Customer’s breach or violation of, or failure to observe or perform, any term, provision or covenant of this Agreement
or its Wireless Services Agreement or End User Software Agreement; (b) as a result of any loss, claim, damage, theft or destruction of any hardware or software, or related
to or arising out of or in connection with the use, operation or condition of any of the Telematics Device(s) or Telematics Data; (c) any failure by Customer to provide any
requisite disclosures or notice, or to obtain any consent or opt-out relating to the use of a Telematics Device or the collection and use of the Telematics Data pursuant to
Section 3 of this Agreement or as may be required by applicable law; (d) any failure by Customer and/or its designated agents to properly access, monitor, use, secure or
safeguard any Data; (e) any deliberate attack, interception, hack or interference with the Telematics Device(s) by any person, the result of which may allow such person
to gain control of the Vehicle or unauthorized access to Data; and (f) any allegation or claim that an EFM Indemnified Person has or had a duty to monitor the Vehicles or
Telematics Device(s) or duty to warn Customer or any other person, company or governmental authority with respect to Data obtained by the Telematics Device(s) or any
similar claim.

EFM agrees to defend, indemnify and hold Customer harmless from and against any and all Losses which Customer may incur by reason of the following: (a) EFM's
breach or violation of, or failure to observe or perform, any term, provision or covenant of this Agreement; and (b) any failure by EFM to comply with Laws applicable to
EFM and the services provided by EFM to Customer under this Agreement.

The provisions of this Section 8 shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.

9. Limitation of Liability. INNO EVENT SHALL EFM, ITS PARENT COMPANY OR ANY OF THEIR AFFILIATES BE LIABLE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL,
SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, LOSS OF DATA, LOST PROFITS OR REVENUES OR DIMINUTION IN VALUE, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO
THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF (A) WHETHER SUCH DAMAGES WERE FORESEEABLE, (B) WHETHER OR NOT IT WAS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH
DAMAGES AND (C) THE LEGAL OR EQUITABLE THEORY (CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) UPON WHICH THE CLAIM IS BASED, AND NOTWITHSTANDING THE
FAILURE OF ANY AGREED OR OTHER REMEDY OF ITS ESSENTIAL PURPOSE.




10. Miscellaneous. All terms and conditions of the agreement(s) otherwise referenced herein shall continue in full force and effect and are hereby ratified
and confirmed by the parties. The parties agree that this Agreement is the full and complete agreement between the parties with respect to the Telematics
Device described herein and shall only be modified upon written agreement of both parties hereto. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the
remaining provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provisions in any other jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except that Customer may not assign, transfer or delegate
any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of EFM, which shall be in EFM’s sole discretion. Any provision of this
Agreement may be amended, but only if such amendment is in writing and is signed by Customer and EFM. EFM may provide additional services related to this
Agreement in the future, and the parties agree that if Customer elects such additional services, the parties will amend this Agreement related to such services.

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of Missouri (without reference to conflict of law
principles).

IN WITNESS, the parties have executed this Agreement, as of the dates respectively provided below.

“ENTERPRISE FLEET MANAGEMENT, INC." Customer Name:
Signature: Signature:

By: By:

Title: Title:

Address: Address:

Date Signed: , Date Signed:




Guyton Police Department

505 Magnolia Street
Guyton, Georgia 31312
Phone: (912) 772-8745 / Fax: (912) 772-8761
Kelphie K. Lundy
Chief of Police

Dear Mayor Harville,

Please see below the list of vehicles being recommended for surplus from the Guyton Police
Department’s fleet:

Make / .
Year Model Color Mileage VIN Notes
2010 EPEVIOlEt gy 104,804 1GNMCAE09AR1 09908 Recommended for surplus due to
Tahoe age and condition
2008 E°  Black 117,027 1FMFU15598LA76282 Recommended for surplus due to
Expedition age and condition

These vehicles have exceeded their useful service life for patrol or administrative use and are no
longer cost-effective to maintain in active-duty status. | respectfully request approval to designate
these vehicles as surplus property.

Please let me know if any additional documentation or inspection information is needed to proceed
with the surplus process.

Respectfully,
it Hoiphie - v Edunetly

Chief Kelphie K. Lundy



36 Courtland Street

Suite B, Statesboro GA 30458

Phone: 912-764-7722

Email: wesley@parker-engineering.com

EARER

June 12, 2025

Moses Walker

310 Central Blvd

Guyton, GA 31312

RE: Alexander Farms SD Phase 1 (PE24189) Approval Letter
Dear Mr. Walker:

Parker Engineering has reviewed the above named project. The document from EPD submitted on
June 11, 2025 addresses all our outstanding concerns and comments. The plans have deemed to
have been designed in general conformance to the City’s ordinances and according to acceptable
engineering standards. Please note that this approval is for Phase 1 only. No construction may take
place for additional phases of this project without design review for those phases.

Please call with any questions.
Sincerely,
Wesley Sherrod, PE

cc: file




Proposal for City Fines for Minor Violations

| propose that the City of Guyton impose fines for small violations such as the Grass/weeds
height and the sanitation. The fines would start at $50 for the first offense of
noncompliance and increase to $100 for a secondary violation. This would work by using
the standard process of identifying the violation, giving notice with an expected timeframe
for compliance, then issuing the fine with an extension for compliance instead of issuing a
citation with a court summons ranging from 14-45 days from the date of the citation.

This would serve as a monetary motivation for residents that may be in violation to address
the issues in a quicker timeframe without having to depend of the court to either set a fine
or to give additional time to bring the violation into compliance. The money gained from
these newly instilled fines could be used for community developments or any other
necessary departments. This could also be used to help cover the cost for the City if it is
decided that there is a need for the City to directly address the specific violation.

These fines proposed are not a set amount and could be altered by City Council as seen fit.





